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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS/MEMBERS that the 73rd Annual General Meeting 
of Bata Pakistan Limited is scheduled to be held at the Registered Office of the Company situated at 
G.T. Road, Batapur, Lahore on Monday, April 28, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., to transact the following business:

1.	 To confirm the minutes of the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company held on April 
24, 2024. 

2.	 To receive, consider, and adopt the Annual Audited Financial Statements of the Company for 
the year ended on December 31, 2024 together with Chairman’s Review, Directors’ and Auditors’ 
Reports thereon. 

The Annual Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended December 31, 
2024 is available through QR enable code and web link as given under.

https://app4.batapkapps.com/bd/frontlegal/page/Financial       
 

3.	 To appoint Statutory Auditors of the Company for the year ending on December 31, 2025 and to fix 
their remuneration. The Board of Directors, based on the recommendation of audit committee, 
has recommended the re-appointment of retiring Auditors M/s A.F. Ferguson & Co. Chartered 
Accountants, who being eligible, have offered themselves for re-appointment as Statutory 
Auditors of the company. 

4.	 To transact any other business with the permission of the Chair.
										        
By order of the Board
		   			 
Batapur Lahore:  								        Amjad Farooq
February 27, 2025								        Chief Financial Officer

NOTES:

1.	 Closure of Shares Transfer Books:
	 The Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from April 22, 2025 to April 28, 

2025 (both days inclusive). Transfer requests on prescribed format, received at the office of the 
Share Registrar of the Company, M/s. Corplink (Pvt.) Ltd. 1-K Commercial, Model Town, Lahore on 
or before the close of business on April 21, 2025 will be treated in time for the determination of 
entitlement of shareholders to attend and vote at the meeting.

	
2.	 Participation in the Annual General Meeting:
	 All members entitled to attend and vote at this Meeting may appoint another person as his/her 

proxy to attend and vote for him / her. Proxies in order to be effective must be received at the 
Registered Office of the Company not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting. 
CDC Accounts Holders will further have to follow the guidelines as laid down in Circular 1 dated 
January 26, 2000 issued by the Securities & Exchange Commission of Pakistan. Proxy form is 
available at the Company’s website i.e. www.bata.com.pk (in English and Urdu Language).	

3.	 Participation in AGM through Electronic Means:
	 The shareholder of the Company desirous of attending the meeting through video link etc. 

may inform the Company and provide their details including name, CNIC scan (both sides), folio 
number, cell phone number and email address before close of business on April 21, 2025 at the 
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email investorcare.pk@bata.com. The video link of meeting shall be sent to the members on 
their registered email addresses.

4.	 Attendance of the Members:

a.	 For attending the meeting 
	 I.	 In the case of individuals, the account holder or sub-account holder whose registration details 

are uploaded as per the Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited Regulations, shall 
authenticate his/her identity by showing his/ her valid original Computerized National Identity 
Card (CNIC) or original passport at the time of attending the Annual General Meeting. 

	
	 II.	 In case of a corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution/power of attorney, with 

specimen signature of the nominee, shall be produced at the time of the Annual General Meeting, 
unless it has been provided earlier.

	
b.	 For appointing proxies 
	 I.	 In case of individuals, the account holder or sub-account holder whose registration details are 

uploaded as per the Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited Regulations, shall submit 
the proxy form as per the mentioned requirements. 

	
	 II.	 The proxy form shall be witnessed by two persons whose names, addresses and CNIC numbers 

shall be mentioned on the form. 
	
	 III.	 Attested copies of the valid CNIC’s or the passports of the beneficial owner(s) and the proxy 

shall be furnished with the proxy form. 
	
	 IV.	 The proxy shall produce his/her valid original CNIC or original passport at the time of the 

Annual General Meeting.
	  
	 V.	 In case of a corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution/power of attorney, with 

specimen signature of the nominee, shall be submitted to the Bank along with the proxy form 
unless the same has been provided earlier.

5.	 Circulation of Annual Audited Accounts and Notice of AGM:
	 The Company’s Annual Report is also being circulated to the members through electronic in 

compliance of section 223(6) of the Companies Act, 2017 and the same is being placed on our 
website www.bata.com.pk. Those shareholders who also wish to obtain an electronic copy of the 
annual report via email are requested to send their email address/consent at the following email 
address: investorcare.pk@bata.com on or before April 07, 2025, and a PDF copy of the Annual 
Report will be duly shared with them via email.

	
6.	 QR Code and Weblink for Annual Audited Accounts:
	 The Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 along 

with Auditors and Directors Report and Chairman’s Review Report thereon have been placed on 
the Company’s website: www.bata.com.pk, which can be downloaded/ viewed through QR code 
and weblink provided in this notice.

		
7.	 Mandatory Submission of CNIC Copies: 
	 With reference to the notification of Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP), 

SRO 779(1)2011 dated August 18, 2011, the Members/Shareholders who have not yet submitted 
photocopy of their valid CNIC to the Company are required to send the same at the earliest directly 
to the Company’s Share Registrar M/s. Corplink (Pvt.) Ltd. 1-K Commercial, Model Town, Lahore. In 
case of non-receipt of the copy of valid CNIC and non-compliance of the above-mentioned SRO 
of SECP, the Company may be constrained to withhold transfer of dividend in the future if any.	
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8.	 Dividend Bank Mandate: 
	 Pursuant to Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, members are requested to provide their 

CNIC’s and bank account details including name of the bank, address of bank branch and 
International Bank Account Number (IBAN) to receive their cash dividend directly into their bank 
account. Therefore, all members who have not yet provided their CNIC and Bank Account details 
are once again reminded to immediately submit a copy of their CNIC and duly filled ‘Dividend 
Bank Mandate Form’ to the Company’s Share Registrar or to the Company directly. In the absence 
of valid bank account details and CNIC, dividend amount will be withheld in compliance with the 
provisions of Act and Regulations made thereunder by the Commission. The ‘Dividend Bank 
Mandate Form’ is available at the Company’s website i.e. www.bata.com.pk.

	 Members who hold shares in CDC accounts are required to provide their bank mandates to their 
respective participants.

	
9.	 Unclaimed Dividends and Share Certificates: 
	 The Shareholders are hereby informed that in accordance with Section 244 of the Companies 

Act, 2017 and the Unclaimed Shares, Modaraba Certificate, Dividends, Others Instruments and 
Undistributed Assets Regulations, 2017, the companies are required to deposit such amounts to 
the credit of the Federal Government and the shares to the Commission, which are unclaimed/
un-collected for a period of three (03) years or more from the date it is due and payable. The 
notices to this fact have already been given to the relevant shareholders. 

	
10.	 Conversion of Physical Securities into Book Entry Forms: 
	 As per Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2017 every listed company is required to replace its 

physical shares with book entry form in a manner as may be specified and from the date notified 
by the Commission, within a period not exceeding four years from the commencement of the 
Act, i.e., May 30, 2017. Further, vide its letter dated March 26, 2021, SECP has directed all the listed 
companies to pursue its shareholder for conversion of their physical securities into book entry 
form. In light of the aforementioned directives, the Shareholders having physical shareholding 
are encouraged to open CDC account with CDS participant/CDC Investor Account Services and 
convert their existing physical securities into book entry form.

	
11.	 Intimation of Changes of Address and declaration for non-deduction of Zakat: 
	 Members who hold shares certificates should notify any changes in their registered address 

and provide their declarations for non-deduction of zakat, if applicable, to the Share Registrar. 
Members who hold shares in CDC / participant accounts are required to update their address and 
submit their declarations for non-deduction of zakat, if applicable, to the CDC or their respective 
participants.

	
	 Contact Details
	 Bata Pakistan Limited
	 G.T Road, Batapur Lahore, Pakistan
	 Email: investorcare.pk@bata.com
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Financial Position
Authorized capital Rs. ' 000s 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Paid up capital Rs. ' 000s 75,600 75,600 75,600 75,600 75,600 75,600 75,600
Shareholders' equity Rs. ' 000s 5,546,125 5,682,024 5,673,657 6,159,421 6,372,599 7,444,589 7,491,327
Total assets Rs. ' 000s 14,878,242 16,121,674 16,342,563 15,602,503 14,005,481 15,878,369 10,693,121
Property, plant and equipment Rs. ' 000s 2,609,144 2,674,127 2,293,261 1,935,392 1,949,867 1,866,897 1,643,028
Provision for gratuity Rs. ' 000s 47,801 44,535 56,587 61,992 68,592 83,476 81,421
Current assets Rs. ' 000s 8,728,310 10,100,355 10,077,458 9,505,254 7,602,604 9,259,645 8,970,446
Current liabilities Rs. ' 000s 6,556,747 7,939,374 7,022,900 5,806,866 3,883,160 4,325,671 3,051,863

Trading Results
Sales Rs. ' 000s 18,332,461 19,262,623 17,733,994 13,983,497 11,710,771 17,424,894 16,795,231
Gross profit Rs. ' 000s 9,014,152 9,146,496 8,589,000 6,475,390 4,370,967 7,869,944 7,525,873
Operating profit Rs. ' 000s 2,053,985 2,096,174 2,160,771 1,525,927 (106,928) 2,294,479 2,307,940
Profit before tax Rs. ' 000s 1,384,358 1,343,013 1,411,074 807,279 (908,049) 1,504,279 2,265,902
Profit after tax Rs. ' 000s 850,730 916,288 874,288 546,089 (627,345) 1,088,862 1,501,409

Distribution
Interim cash dividend - paid % 1,300.00    1,200.00    1,800.00    1,000.00    -             900.00       900.00       
Final cash dividend - proposed/paid % -             -             -             -             -             600.00 600.00

Financial Ratios and Values
Gross profit % 49.17 47.48 48.43 46.31 37.32 45.16 44.81
Operating profit % 11.20 10.88 12.18 10.91 (0.91) 13.17 13.74
Profit before tax % 7.55 6.97 7.96 5.77 (7.75) 8.63 13.49
Profit after tax % 4.64 4.76 4.93 3.91 (5.36) 6.25 8.94
Return on equity % 15.34 16.13 15.41 8.87 (9.84) 14.63 20.04
Price earning ratio Times 17.94 14.29 18.71 30.06 (14.36) 13.84 7.78
Dividend yield % 4.95 6.93 4.62 4.61 9.14 7.02 9.71
Earnings per share Rs. 112.53 121.20 115.65 72.23 (82.98) 144.03 198.60
Debt : equity ratio Times 1.68 : 1 1.91:1 1.88:1 1.53 : 1 1.20 : 1 1.13 : 1 0.00 : 1
Current ratio Times 1.33 : 1 1.27:1 1.43:1 1.64 : 1 1.97 : 1 2.77 : 1 2.94 : 1
Average stock turns - value Times 1.64 1.93 2.01 2.21 2.16 2.38 2.49
Debtors turnover Times 2.06 3.01 2.55 14.36 8.45 6.65 2.21
Average collection period Days 177 121 143 25 43 55 165
Property, plant and equipment turnover Times 7.03 7.20 8.38 7.20 6.02 9.33 10.22
Break up value per share Rs. 733.61 751.59 750.48 814.74 819.70 984.73 990.92
Market price per share Rs. 2,018.85 1,732.23 2,163.29 2,171.15 1,531.84 1,993.06 1,545.00
Market capitalization Rs. ' 000s 15,262,506 13,095,659 16,354,472 16,413,894 11,580,710 15,067,534 11,680,200

Other information
Permanent employees Number 1,796 1,983 2,142 2,274 2,287 2,683 2,693
Retail outlets Number 401 444 444 443 444 462 476
Wholesale depots Number 0 0 0 0 0 11 12
Installed capacity Pairs ' 000s 18,363 18,394 18,378 18,339 18,704 19,375 20,290
Actual production Pairs ' 000s 8,669 11,024 11,587 11,572 11,186 15,641 15,832
Capacity utilization % 47.21 59.93 63.05 63.10 59.81 80.73 78.03
Capital expenditure Rs. ' 000s 413,537 914,738 485,373 309,746 417,237 482,170 387,501

Contribution to the National Exchequer Rs. ' 000s 4,116,004 4,004,651 3,500,728 2,633,142 2,251,024 3,101,414 2,662,527

KEY OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS
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63.4%
11.5%

17.9%

2.9% 4.3% 0.0%To Buy Materials, Finished Goods and Services

To Employees Salaries, wages and benefits

To Government Income Tax, Sales Tax, Custom &
Excise Duties, WWF, WPPF, EOBI, Social Security,
Professional and Local Taxes

Finance Cost

2024 2023
Rs. '000s % Rs. '000s %

Revenue Generated
Sales 22,686,096      23,461,217        
Other income 363,217           527,857             

23,049,313      100% 23,989,074        100%
Revenue Distributed

14,622,805      63.4% 15,562,253        64.9%

To Employees
Salaries, wages and benefits 2,658,077        11.5% 2,753,442          11.5%

To Government

4,116,004        17.9% 4,004,651          16.7%

Finance Cost 669,627           2.9% 753,161             3.1%

To Shareholders
Dividend 982,800           4.3% 907,200             3.8%

Retained in Business
For Retail Expansion and Operations -                   0.0% 8,367                 0.0%

23,049,313      100.0% 23,989,074        100.0%

To Buy Materials, Finished Goods and Services

Income Tax, Sales Tax, Custom & Excise Duties,
WWF, WPPF, EOBI, Social Security, Professional
and Local Taxes

VALUE ADDED AND ITS DISTRIBUTION
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BATA PAKISTAN’S CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) INITIATIVES

EMPOWERING YOUNG MINDS – SOS 
VILLAGE LAHORE X BATA CHILDREN’S 
PROGRAM

At Bata Pakistan, we believe in the power of giving back to the community and making a meaningful 
impact on society. Through our **Bata Children’s Program (BCP)** and sustainability-driven initiatives, 
we are committed to uplifting lives, fostering education, promoting healthcare, and protecting the 
environment. Here’s how we’re making a difference:  

Bata Pakistan took a significant step in shaping the future of young learners by organizing a 
specialized IT skills development session at **SOS Village Lahore**. Under the **Bata Children’s 
Program**, our dedicated mentors engaged these budding tech enthusiasts in hands-on activities, 
teaching them the fundamentals of coding and digital creativity.  

With passion and commitment, we aim to equip children with essential skills for the digital age, 
opening doors to brighter opportunities. Together, we are fostering innovation and knowledge, 
one child at a time.
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PRIORITIZING HEALTH & WELL-BEING 
– GOVT. BOYS HIGH SCHOOL X BATA 
CHILDREN’S PROGRAM 
At Govt. Boys High School Batapur, Lahore, Bata Pakistan conducted a comprehensive. Health 
Awareness Session, educating students on essential health practices to encourage well-being in 
the community.  

To extend our support beyond the classroom, we also arranged a **Medical Camp**, providing free 
diagnoses and essential medicines to the local residents. By prioritizing health education and access 
to medical care, we continue our mission to enhance lives and create a healthier society.  
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DRIVING ENVIRONMENTAL AWARE-
NESS – WORLD ENVIRONMENT DAY X 
BATA CHILDREN’S PROGRAM
We joined hands with the students of Govt. Girls Middle School Batapur, Lahore to celebrate World 
Environment Day through an engaging awareness session and hands-on activities focusing on 
Land Restoration, Desertification, and Drought Resilience.

As part of the global movement, Generation Restoration, we proudly participated in the campaign 
“Our Land, Our Future,” inspiring young minds to become environmental stewards. Together, we 
are shaping a sustainable tomorrow.  
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EXTENDING A LIFELINE – SUNDAS 
FOUNDATION X BATA CHILDREN’S PRO-
GRAM
Bata Pakistan, in collaboration with Sundas Foundation, organized a Blood Donation Camp to 
support children battling Thalassemia. Our dedicated employees from all departments stepped 
forward with generosity and compassion, contributing 60 bags of blood to aid young patients in 
need.  

This initiative reflects our unwavering commitment to social responsibility and the power of collective 
action in making a difference.  
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SUSTAINABILITY IN ACTION – BATA GO 
GREEN INITIATIVE
Under our “Bata Go Green” initiative, we launched a company-wide effort to promote sustainability 
by actively engaging employees in tree plantation and greenery restoration.  

Our commitment to environmental conservation goes beyond words we believe in action. By 
fostering a culture of responsibility, we continue to make strides toward a greener, more sustainable 
Pakistan.
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CELEBRATING WORLD CHILDREN’S 
DAY X BATA CHILDREN’S PROGRAM
Bata Pakistan, in collaboration with Sundas Foundation, organized a Blood Donation Camp to 
support children battling Thalassemia. Our dedicated employees from all departments stepped 
forward with generosity and compassion, contributing 60 bags of blood to aid young patients in 
need.  

This initiative reflects our unwavering commitment to social responsibility and the power of collective 
action in making a difference.  
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ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS
Bata Wins the Prestigious Global Design Award

In 2024, Bata solidified its position as a leader in the footwear industry by winning the Global Design 
Award (GDA) for Best Brand in the Shoes/Footwear – Men category. This prestigious accolade 
recognizes Bata’s unwavering commitment to quality, innovation, and customer satisfaction, 
reaffirming its legacy as a trusted and stylish footwear brand.

Competing against industry giants such as Hush Puppies, Borjan, Walkeaze, Service, Ndure, 
Logo Shoes, and Urban Sole, Bata distinguished itself through cutting-edge designs, premium 
craftsmanship, and a customer-first approach.

What Set Bata Apart
Innovation: Bata continues to push the boundaries of footwear design, blending modern trends 
with advanced comfort technology.
Quality: Superior materials and craftsmanship ensure durability and style, making every pair a long-
term investment.
Customer-Centric Approach: A diverse product range, excellent after-sales service, and inclusive 
sizing cater to a broad customer base.
Sustainability: With increasing eco-conscious efforts, Bata integrates sustainable practices, making 
a positive impact on the industry.

Winning the GDA Award is more than just a milestone it’s a testament to Bata’s ongoing dedication 
to excellence and innovation. As we move forward, Bata remains committed to setting new industry 
standards, delivering unparalleled footwear experiences, and staying true to its promise of quality 
and style.
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HAJJ LUCKY DRAW 2025

At Bata, we believe in fostering a supportive and uplifting environment for our employees. As part 
of our commitment to giving back, the Hajj Lucky Draw 2025 was a remarkable initiative aimed at 
providing a life-changing opportunity for our team members to embark on their spiritual journey.

Through this initiative, 10 lucky winners were selected, creating a moment of joy and inspiration 
across the organization. This activity not only reinforced our values of care and community but also 
significantly boosted employee morale, making it a truly meaningful and memorable experience for 
everyone involved.
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BREAST CANCER AWARENESS SESSION
Our Bata family united for an empowering Breast Cancer Awareness Session led by Dr. Wajeeha 
Anjum, a Clinical Oncologist from INMOL Hospital. The session provided crucial insights into early 
detection and prevention of breast cancer a condition affecting 1 in 9 Pakistani women.

Dr. Anjum’s expertise in breast and gynecological oncology offered invaluable knowledge, followed 
by free physical examinations for our team. Seeing our community come together for this vital 
cause was truly inspiring because at Bata, we believe that early detection saves lives.
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COFFEE WITH CM

A platform for growth, collaboration, and inspiration, Coffee with the Country Manager brings 
together store managers from across the country for an open and insightful discussion.
In our latest session, Country Manager Imran Malik, alongside department heads, engaged with 
store managers to exchange ideas, share ambitions, and strategize for the future. Discussions 
covered local market insights, competition analysis, and innovative approaches to enhance the 
Bata experience.
This initiative fosters a culture of open dialogue and continuous improvement, empowering our 
store managers our Tigers to lead the charge in surpassing targets and delivering excellence across 
all regions.
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FOUNDER’S DAY 2024 – CELEBRATING 
130 YEARS OF EXCELLENCE

Marking 130 years of Bata, this year’s Founder’s Day in Pakistan was a heartfelt tribute to the 
incredible people who drive our success.

At the Bata Long Service Awards 2024, we honored the dedication of our employees and retirees, 
recognizing their invaluable contributions to the company’s legacy. The event also celebrated the 
inspiring efforts of our Bata Children Program volunteers, whose commitment to community 
upliftment continues to make a difference.

As part of our Founder’s Day agenda, BCP Pakistan led a volunteering initiative at Government 
Boys High School Batapur, Lahore. Under the leadership of Mr. Imran Malik (MD Bata Pakistan), 
Luc Valentin (Global CHCO), Stojanka Salatovik (Regional HR Head), and the management team, 
our employees renovated the school’s science lab and transformed an empty plot into a beautiful 
green space.

The initiative left a lasting impact, with students feeling inspired by the team’s presence. The day 
ended on a high note with an energetic football match, where the winning teams were awarded 
special prizes. Community leaders and school management appreciated Bata Pakistan’s role, while 
the children’s excitement was evident as they cheered and chanted in celebration.

Here’s to continuing our legacy of empowering individuals and supporting communities!
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On Board’s overall performance and effectiveness under section 192(4) of the Companies Act, 2017

Bata Pakistan Limited complies with all the requirements set out in the Companies Act, 2017 
(the “Act”) and the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the 
“Regulations”) with respect to the composition, procedures and meetings of the Board of Directors 
and its committees. As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, an annual evaluation of 
the Board of Directors of (the “Board”) of Bata Pakistan Limited (the “Company”) is carried out. The 
purpose of this evaluation is to ensure that the Board’s overall performance and effectiveness is 
measured and benchmarked against expectations in the context of objectives set for the Company. 
Areas where improvements are required are duly considered and action plans are framed and 
implemented.

For the Purpose of Board evaluation, a comprehensive criterion has been developed. The Board has 
recently completed its annual self-evaluation for the year ended December 31, 2024 and I report that:

The overall performance of the Board measured on the basis of approved criteria for the year was 
satisfactory.

The overall assessment as satisfactory is based on an evaluation of the following integral components, 
which have a direct bearing on the Board’s role in achievement of Company’s objectives:

1.    Vision, mission and values:
The Board members are familiar with the current vision, mission and values and support them. The 
Board revisits the mission and vision statement from time to time.

2.    Engagement in strategic planning:
The Board has a clear understanding of the stakeholders (shareholders, customers, employees, 
vendors, society at large) whom the Company serves. The Board has a strategic vision of how the 
Organization should evolve over the next three to five years. Further, the Board sets annual goals and 
targets for the management in all major performance areas.

3.    Diligence:
The Board members diligently performed their duties and thoroughly reviewed, discussed and 
approved business strategies, corporate objectives, plans, budgets, financial statements and other 
reports. It received clear and succinct agendas and supporting written material in sufficient time 
prior to Board and committee meetings. The Board met frequently enough to adequately discharge 
its responsibilities.

4.    Monitoring of Organization’s business activities:
The Board remained updated with respect to achievement of Company’s objectives, goals, strategies 
and financial performance through regular presentations by the management, internal and external 
auditors and other independent consultants. The Board provided appropriate direction and oversight 
on a timely basis.

5.    Diversity and mix:
The Board members effectively bring the diversity to the Board and constitute a mix of independent 
and non-executive directors. The non-executive and independent directors were equally involved in 
important board decisions.

6.    Governance and Control Environment:
The Board has effectively set the tone at the top, by putting in place a transparent and robust system 
of governance. This is reflected by setting up an effective control environment, compliance with best 
practices of Corporate Governance and by promoting ethical and fair behavior across the Company.

Batapur:   								        Ms. Jin Zeng 	
Lahore: February 27, 2025   						     Chairperson of the Board

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
We on behalf of the Board of Directors of Bata Pakistan Limited, are pleased to present the Annual 
Report with the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

1. Principal Activity
The principal activity of the Company is manufacturing and sale of footwear of all kinds along with 
sale of accessories and hosiery items.

2. Holding Company
The parent company of Bata Pakistan Limited is Bafin (Netherlands) B. V. situated in Nederland, 
whereas the ultimate parent entity is Compass Limited, Bermuda.

3. Financial Results
A brief financial analysis is presented as under:

Operating Results
2024 2023

Increase / (Decrease)
Amount in (000’s)

Turnover 22,686,096 23,461,217 -3.30%

Net Turnover 18,332,461 19,262,623 -4.83%

Gross Profit 9,014,152 9,146,496 -1.45%

Gross Profit % 49.17% 47.48% +1.69bps

Distribution Costs 5,329,984 5,578,521 -4.46%

Administrative Expenses 1,897,994 1,808,415 4.95%

Operating Profit 2,053,233 2,096,174 -2.05%

Profit After Tax 850,730 916,288 -7.15%

Earnings per Share - Rupees 112.53 121.2 -7.15%

4. Financial Results and Developments
The Company’s business achieved net turnover of Rs. 18.332 billion showing a decline of 4.83% 
over last year. The gross profit was recorded at Rs. 9.014 billion against last year of Rs.9.146 billion. 
Operating profit was Rs. 2.053 billion against Rs.2.096 billion of last year. Profit after taxation was 
Rs. 850.73 million as compared to Rs.916.28 million of last year. The Company achieved earnings per 
share of Rs. 112.53 against Rs.121.20 of last year.

Our retail division showed a decline of 3% due to tough market conditions. In order to sustain this 
growth and to provide friendly and modern atmosphere in the stores, an amount of Rs. 282 million 
has been spent to open new stores and to renovate existing stores at key business locations. Much 
of the expansion was focused on our modern format of stores concept.

The Company has an effective cash flow management system in place whereby cash inflows and 
outflows are projected on regular basis. The profit on short term investments was Rs. 71.39 million. 
The Board is satisfied that there are no short or long term financial constraints at the close of the 
year.

The growth of our business is highly dependent on the skills imparted to our personnel through 
sound training. The Company has invested a considerable time and money on human resource during 
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the period to acquire latest developments in the field of technology and business administration. 
This would be the ongoing process for future periods. Training of our employees has always been 
considered as an investment for the future with the objective to provide them with safe and healthy 
working environment.

5. Earning per share
Earning per share for the year ended December 31, 2024 was Rs. 112.53 as against Rs.121.2 of the 
preceding year.

6. Appropriation of Profit
The financial results of the Company are as under:

Profit before taxation

Less: Provision for taxation

Current

Prior years

Deferred

Profit after tax

Unappropriated profit brought forward from last year 

Experience adjustments - Employee Benefits

Profit available for appropriations

Final dividend 2024 @ Rs. 00.00 per share

Interim dividend 2024 @ Rs. 130.00 per share

Transfer to general reserve

Unappropriated profit carried forward

7. Principal Risk and Uncertainties

The Company is exposed to certain inherent risks and uncertainties. However, we consider the 

following as key risks:

• Significant competition in our product categories;

• Adverse movement in foreign exchange rates and commodity prices; and

• Litigation risks involving significant cases against the company.

The Company works with internal and external stakeholders to mitigate/reduce to acceptable level 

the likely impacts of aforesaid risks.

8. Corporate Social Responsibility

In order to promote physical fitness of the students, constructed a badminton court in a local 

Year ended December 31, 2024
Rs. (‘000)

1,384,358

850,730

913,042

1,895,091

533,628

(982,800)

1,048,941
(3,829)

294,385
18,374

220,869

           -
(982,800)

           -
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government school. Built a Water Filtration Plant in school to provide clean & safe drinking 

water to the students and nearby community. In order to promote healthy culture, annual sports 

were arranged for the students of underprivileged schools. Donated 1859 pairs of shoes to the 

underprivileged children studying in various schools in different cities. To commemorate women’s 

accomplishments, raise awareness about gender discrimination and promote global support for 

women, we celebrated International Women’s Day by arranging activities in office, factories and 

SOS Village Lahore. To impart our role for better environment, Plant for Life campaign was launched 

with the participation of our employees and their children; and planted 3,000 trees / saplings in 

Batapur & Maraka along with nearby communities including schools and residential areas. Arranged 

mentoring sessions at SOS Village Lahore focusing on character building, personality development 

and enhancing computer skills. Arranged Health Awareness & Medical Camps in schools where 

students and teachers were examined and provided free medicines. The families of students were 

also covered and tests of blood sugar, cholesterol, uric acid and hepatitis B & C were conducted with 

free consultation.

Celebrated World Environment Day with the students of girls’ school at Batapur; and explained 

them the importance of global warming, habitat loss and pollution hazards which was followed 

by interactive session including different activities performed by the students. A blood donation 

camp was organized at Batapur in collaboration with Sundas Foundation to save lives of children 

with Thalassemia which was enthusiastically participated by our employees who donated 60 units 

of blood for this noble cause. In the wake of Founder’s Day celebrations, BCP volunteers renovated 

Science Lab of Government Boys High School Attoke Awan Lahore by executing masonry and 

painting jobs.

As part of Founder’s Day activities and to promote sports culture amongst students, a football match 

was arranged between school teams and the players were presented with gifts. Arranged interactive 

mentoring session for the girl students of a local school emphasizing to build and strengthen their 

computer skills. In order to bring smiles to the faces of children, a heart-warming gift distribution 

ceremony was arranged in local church on the eve of Christmas.

9. Environmental Impact

In order to impart our role for better environment, we planted more than 3,000 trees / saplings at 

Batapur and Branch Factory Maraka.

10. Future Outlook

Despite the tough competition in the market and uncretain economic environment, Company 

remains fully committed and optimistic about the future growth of the business where it tries to 

present best products along with excellent shopping experience to its walk-in and on-line customers.
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11. Internal Financial Controls

The Directors and management are responsible for the Company’s system of internal controls and 

for reviewing annually its

The Board and Audit Committee regularly review reports of the internal audit function of the Company 

related to the Company’s control framework in order to satisfy the internal control requirements. 

The Company’s internal audit function performs reviews of the integrity and effectiveness of control 

activities and provides regular reports to the Audit Committee and the Board.

12. Compliance with Listed Companies (Code Of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the 

Regulations)

The requirements of the Regulations relevant for the year ended December 31, 2024 have been 

adopted by the Company and have

been fully complied with. A statement to this effect is annexed to the Report.

13. Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework

The Directors of your company state that:

a) The financial statements together with the notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with 

the Companies Act, 2017 and International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan. 

These statements present fairly the Company’s state of affairs, the results of its operations, cash 

flows and changes in equity.

b) Proper books of account of the Company have been maintained.

c) Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in the preparation of financial 

statements and accordingly estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment. Change in 

accounting policy, if any has been adequately disclosed.

d) International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in the 

preparation of financial statements.

e) The system of internal controls is sound in design and has been effectively implemented and is 

being consistently reviewed by the internal audit department.

f) There are no significant doubts upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

g) There has been no material departure from the best practices of corporate governance as detailed 

in listing regulations of Pakistan Stock Exchange.

h) Key operating and financial data of last six years is annexed to this report.

i) Information about taxes and levies outstanding as at December 31, 2024 is given in the notes to the 

annexed financial statements.

j) The valuation of investment made by the Provident Fund Trust Rs. 1.547 billion as on December 31, 

2024 as per audited accounts.

k) No trading in the shares of the Company was carried out by the Directors, CEO, CFO and Company 

Secretary, their spouses and minor children.
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14. Composition of Board

The board consists of seven (07) male and two (02) female directors with following composition:

Independent directors * 3

Other directors (Executive & Non-Executive) * 6

* This includes two female directors

The Board held five (05) meetings during the year. Attendance by each Director was as follows:

Directors’ Name Meetings
Attended

Eligible to
attend

Ms. Jin Zeng (Chairperson of the Board) Non - Executive Director 3 3

Mr. Muhammad Imran Malik Executive Director 5 5

Mr. Amjad Farooq Executive Director 5 5

Mr. Rearngwut Chuenchomsakun Non - Executive Director 2 5

Mr. Muhammad Maqbool Non - Executive Director 5 5

Mr. Aamir Amin Non - Executive Director 5 5

Mr. Rashid Rahman Mir Independent Director 5 5

Mr. Kamal Monnoo Independent Director 5 5

Ms. Fatima Asad Khan Independent Director 4 5

Resigned during the year-2024       	 Non - Executive Director		  0		  2

Mr. Roberto Longo
Leave of absence was granted to directors who could not attend some of the Board meetings.

The Company has already met the criteria specified in the Regulations till December 31, 2024 
pertaining to Therefore, no such training program was conducted during the year

15. Remuneration of Other Directors
The Company shall not pay remuneration to its non-executive directors including independent 
directors except for meeting fee for attending Board and its Committees meetings. The Company will 
reimburse or incur expenses of travelling and accommodation of Directors in relation to attending 
of Board and its Committees meetings. The Directors’ Policy will be reviewed and approved by the 
Board of Directors from time to time. Details of aggregate amount of remuneration separately of 
executive and non- executive directors, including salary/fee, perquisites, benefits and performance-
linked incentives are disclosed in the annexed financial statements.

16. Remuneration Package of Chief Executive and Directors
The remuneration package of the Chief Executive and other directors is disclosed in Note 43 to the 
financial statements.

17. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee held four (04) quarterly meetings during the year. Attendance by each member 
was as follows:
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Existing Committee Members Non - Executive Director Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
attend

Mr. Rashid Rahman Mir Chairman 4 4

Mr. Aamir Amin Member 4 4

Mr. Rearngwut Chuenchomsakun Member 1 4

Resigned member of the 
Audit Committee

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
attend

Mr. Roberto Longo Member 0 2

The Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly, half yearly and annual financial statements before 
submission to the Board and their publication. CFO, Head of Internal Audit and a representative of 
external auditors attended the meetings where issues relating to accounts and audit were discussed. 
The Audit Committee also reviewed internal audit findings and held separate meetings with internal 
and external auditors as required under the Listed Companies (Code Of Corporate Governance) 
Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations). The Audit Committee also discussed with the external auditors 
their letter to the management. Related party transactions were also placed before the Audit 
Committee prior to approval of the Board.

18. Human Resource and Remuneration Committee
The HR Committee held three (03) meetings during the year. Attendance by each member was as 
follows:

Existing Committee Members Non - Executive Director Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
attend

Ms. Fatima Asad Khan Chairperson 2 2

Mr. Muhammad Imran Malik Member 2 2

Mr. Muhammad Maqbool Member 2 2

19. Auditors
The present Auditors, Messrs. A.F. Ferguson & Co., Chartered Accountants retire and offer themselves 
for re-appointment. The Board of Directors, on recommendation of Audit Committee, proposes the 
re-appointment of Messrs. A.F. Ferguson & Co., Chartered Accountants, for the year ending December 
31, 2025.

20. The Pattern of Shareholding
The pattern of shareholding as on December 31, 2024 and its disclosure according to the requirement 
of Listed Companies (Code Of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) is annexed 
to this report.

21. Shariah and Non-Shariah Compliance Status
The SECP has made some amendments in the Fourth Schedule of the Companies Act, 2017 for 
reporting on Shariah and Non-Shariah related matters vide SRO 1278(I)/2024 dated August 15, 2024, 
the same has been complied in the financials statement of the company.

22. Environmental, Social and Governance - ESG
The initiatives are taken by the board for the adoption of ESG guidelines by SECP.

23. Addressing Sustainability Risks
Sustainability is crucial for an organization because it helps ensure long-term success while 
minimizing negative impacts on the environment, society, and the economy. Sustainability also 
builds a positive brand reputation, which attracts customers, employees, and investors who value 
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ethical practices and environmental responsibility. Furthermore, it helps organizations mitigate risks 
associated with climate change, resource scarcity, and regulatory changes. Ultimately, embracing 
sustainability enables an organization to contribute to global well-being while maintaining resilience 
and competitiveness in an increasingly eco-conscious market. Bata Pakistan is fully committed to 
meet its current requirements during the normal course of business activity without endangering 
the environment and encourage its customers, suppliers, employees and other stakeholders to 
implement policies that are more ethical and ecological.

The organization has taken the following measures to mitigate sustainability risks:

Bata Pakistan is using Water-based adhesives in its production unit. Water-based adhesives have 
lower levels of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), reducing air pollution and minimizing harmful 
effects on both human health and the environment. This makes them a more sustainable alternative 
to solvent-based adhesives. Moreover, these adhesives are non-toxic and less flammable, which 
makes them safer to handle. Overall, water-based adhesives are a cleaner, safer, and environmentally 
responsible option that meets the needs of modern manufacturing and production processes.
The Company has installed 2 MW solar plant for clean and renewable source of power that generates 
electricity without emitting harmful greenhouse gases (GHGs), such as carbon dioxide (CO2). This 
helps mitigate climate change by reducing the reliance on fossil fuels for energy production.

The company arranges periodic plantation drives because tree plantation is vital to achieving 
sustainability by mitigating climate change, supporting biodiversity, and ensuring the long-term 
health of both ecosystems and human communities. It’s a simple yet powerful tool for a sustainable 
future.

The company uses incineration method for hazardous waste. Waste incineration, when paired 
with modern pollution control technologies, can provide several positive impacts, such as reducing 
waste volume and methane emissions from landfills. It plays a valuable role in sustainable waste 
management.

The company has safeguarded all its machines by adding additional safeguards. Machine 
safeguarding is vital for both the safety of employees and the long-term sustainability of a business. 
By reducing workplace injuries, improving efficiency, minimizing waste, ensuring compliance, and 
lowering environmental impact, safeguarding helps businesses achieve their sustainability goals. 
It ensures that operations are not only safe but also responsible and efficient, contributing to the 
company’s overall success in a sustainable manner.

The company arranges safety related trainings on regular basis. Safety training is crucial for 
sustainability because it protects employees, prevents environmental damage, supports regulatory 
compliance, conserves resources, and promotes cost efficiency. It helps create a safer, healthier, and 
more responsible workplace, which is essential for achieving long-term sustainability goals.

The company has banned the use of all plastic items in its premises. Banning plastic provides 
significant environmental, health, and economic benefits. It helps reduce pollution, protect wildlife, 
decrease greenhouse gas emissions, and encourage the adoption of sustainable practices. By 
transitioning away from plastic, we not only address the immediate environmental crisis but also 
create a foundation for a more sustainable future.

Bata Pakistan has 07 rain water recharge wells in its premises. Rainwater recharge wells are an 
important tool in sustainable water management, particularly in areas facing water scarcity or those 
reliant on groundwater. These wells capture and store rainwater, allowing it to recharge underground 
aquifers, helping restore the water table and ensure a more stable supply of groundwater.

24. Promoting the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion – DEI
Our company is committed to fostering a sustainable and inclusive workplace that promotes the 
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well-being of all employees. As part of our ongoing efforts, we have taken significant initiatives 
to enhance diversity, equity, and inclusion within our organization. One of our key steps has been 
the active recruitment of female staff in our factory, ensuring that women have access to equal 
employment opportunities. To support their integration, we have provided all necessary facilities, 
ensuring a comfortable and safe working environment. Additionally, some executive positions have 
been given to female employees, reinforcing our commitment to gender diversity in leadership roles.
In addition to structural improvements, we celebrate various national and international days such 
as Father’s Day, Mother’s Day, Women’s Day, and Pink Ribbon Day. These celebrations help foster 
a sense of belonging and appreciation among our employees. Furthermore, we are dedicated to 
raising awareness about physical and mental health, particularly among women, to ensure they 
have access to essential resources and support systems.

Beyond inclusion and awareness, we actively focus on attracting and nurturing talented employees. 
Our recruitment strategies are designed to bring in individuals who not only excel in their roles but 
also contribute to a culture of innovation and collaboration. Through structured induction programs 
and continuous professional development, we ensure that all employees have the opportunity to 
grow and succeed within the organization. Our workplace embraces diversity at all levels, where 
individuals from various backgrounds, from senior executives to fresh graduates, work together 
harmoniously. Racism has no place in our company, and we are committed to maintaining an 
environment of mutual respect and acceptance.

To promote teamwork and engagement, we organize sports tournaments where both male and 
female staff members can participate and showcase their talents beyond their daily job routines. 
These events create a positive work environment, encourage a healthy work- life balance, and 
strengthen camaraderie among employees.

Our company remains dedicated to building an inclusive, dynamic, and supportive workplace where 
every employee feels valued. By implementing these initiatives, we continue to foster a culture of 
respect, equality, and sustainability, ensuring a brighter and more prosperous future for our workforce.

25. Subsequent Events
No material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company have 
occurred between the end of the financial year to which these financial statements relate and the 
date of directors’ report.

26. Related Party Transactions
The transactions with the related parties and associated undertakings were placed before Audit 
Committee and upon its recommendations were approved by the Board of Directors.

27. Acknowledgement
We take this opportunity to express our gratitude and appreciation to our customers for their 
confidence in our products, our employees for their efforts and all other stakeholders for their 
continued support.

Place: Batapur, Lahore
Date: February 27, 2025

DIRECTOR

On behalf of the
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MUHAMMAD IMRAN MALIK 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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112.53
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850,730

1,384,358

112.53 850.73
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LISTED COMPANIES 
(CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2019

Name of Company: Bata Pakistan Limited
Year ended: December 31, 2024	

The company has complied with the requirements of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (‘Regulations’) in the following manner:

1.	 The total number of directors are Nine (09) as per the following:						   
		  a) Male:       Seven 	 (07)									       
		  b) Female:   Two 	 (02)								      

2.	 The composition of the Board is as follows:	
	

Category Names

i. Independent Directors
Mr. Rashid Rahman Mir	

Mr. Kamal Monnoo

ii. Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Muhammad Maqbool

Mr. Rearngwut Chuenchomsakun

Mr. Aamir Amin

iii. Executive Directors
Mr. Muhammad Imran Malik

Mr. Amjad Farooq

iv. Female Director (Non-Executive) Ms. Jin Zeng

     Female Director (Independent) Ms. Fatima Asad Khan

3.  The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than seven listed 
companies, including this company;
						    
4.  The company has prepared a code of conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been 
taken to disseminate it throughout the company along with its supporting policies and procedures

5.  The Board has developed a vision/mission statement, overall corporate strategy and the following 
significant policies of the company. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of 
these significant policies along with their date of approval or update is maintained by the company.

	 (i) 	 Human resource management including preparation of a succession plan;
	 (ii)	 Permissible fee for non-executive directors including independent directors; and
	 (iii) 	 Whistle blowing policy

Regulation 10(4) of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019, lists 
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the significant policies that the company may maintain. However, at present, the company has only 
maintained the aforementioned policies. The company is in the process of developing the other 
significant policies referenced in the aforementioned regulation in due course.	

6.  All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been 
taken by the Board/ shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these 
Regulations;	
									       
7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairperson and, in her absence, by a director 
elected by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of Act and the 
Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of the Board;		
		
8. The Board have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in 
accordance with the Act and these Regulations;									       
	
9. Regulation 18 of the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019, requires 
that entity shall make appropriate arrangements to carry out orientation for their directors to 
acquaint them with these Regulations, applicable laws, their duties and responsibilities to enable 
them to effectively govern the affairs of the listed company for and on behalf of shareholders. In line 
with this, the company arranged a Director Training program for one of its directors, Mr. Rearngwut 
Chuenchomsakun (non-executive director), whose training was due this year. However, he did not 
attend and resigned from his position as a director of the company. Furthermore, during the year, the 
company appointed a new non-executive director, who will complete the Director’s training within 
the timeframe allowed under the regulations. All other directors of the company have completed 
the training in prior years.
		
10. The Board has approved the appointment of the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Internal 
Audit, as well as their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment, in compliance with 
the relevant regulations. However, a casual vacancy for the Company Secretary arose during the 
year, and the company is in the process of filling this vacancy. It will be filled in due course.

11.  Chief financial officer and chief executive officer duly endorsed the financial statements before 
approval of the Board;	

12.  The Board has formed Committees comprising of members given below:
			 
	 a) Audit Committee										        
	 1. Mr. Rashid Rahman Mir (Chairman)									       
	 2. Mr. Aamir Amin         										        
	 3. Mr. Rearngwut Chuenchomsakun									       
											         
	 b) Human Resource and Remuneration Committee						    
	 1. Ms. Fatima Asad Khan (Chairperson)									       
	 2. Mr. Muhammad Imran Malik										        
	 3. Mr. Muhammad Maqbool	
							     
13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised 
to the committee for compliance;	
						    
14.  The frequency of meetings (quarterly / half yearly / yearly) of the Committees were as per following:
										        
	 a)  Audit Committee										       
	 Four quarterly meetings were held during the financial year ended December 31, 2024		
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	 b) Human Resource and Remuneration Committee							     
	 Two meetings were held during the financial year ended December 31, 2024				  
						    
15.  The Board has set up an effective internal audit function, which is considered suitably qualified and 
experienced for the purpose and is conversant with the policies and procedures of the company;		
								      
16.  The statutory auditors of the company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory 
rating under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Pakistan and registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners 
are in compliance with International Federation of Accountants (the “”IFAC””) guidelines on Code 
of Ethics as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and that they and the 
partners of the firm involved in the audit are not a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and 
non-dependent children) of the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, head of internal audit, 
company secretary or director of the company; 

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide 
other services except in accordance with the Act, these Regulations or any other regulatory 
requirement and the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard; 
and	

18.  We confirm that all requirements of regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27,32, 33 and 36 of the Regulations have 
been complied with.	

19.  Explanation for non-compliance with requirements, other than regulations 3, 6, 7, 8, 27, 32, 33, and 
36, are stated below and above in clauses 5 and 9:

Sr. Requirement Explanation of Non-Compliance Regulation No

1 Responsibilities of the Board 
and its members:
Adoption of the corporate 
governance practices.”

On June 12, 2024, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan 
amended Regulation 10 and introduced 
Regulation 10A in the Regulations. 
These changes require the Board to 
approve an anti-harassment policy for 
protection against harassment at the 
workplace and oversee sustainability 
risks and opportunities, including setting 
the Company’s sustainability strategies 
and targets and policies to promote 
diversity, equity and inclusion (DE&I). The 
management is currently reviewing these 
amendments and will ensure compliance 
in due course.	

10(4)(xvi), 10A, 
and 35(1)(vii)



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 60

2 Constitution of Nomination & 
Risk Management Committees:

Since there are no Nomination and 
Risk Management Committees in place 
(required under non-mandatory provisions 
of Regulations 29 & 30), their respective 
terms of reference, as enumerated in the 
Regulations, have been incorporated in 
the terms of reference of Human Resource 
and Remuneration Committee and Audit 
Committee respectively.

29(1) & 30(1)

3 Disclosure of significant 
policies on website:

Policies, other than the Code of Conduct 
and Whistleblowing policies, such 
as Communication and Disclosure, 
Risk Management, Internal Control, 
and Corporate Social Responsibility / 
Sustainability / Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG) policies, do not currently 
exist in the Company’s records and are not 
uploaded on the Company’s website. The 
Company is in the process of developing 
these policies, which will be uploaded in 
due course. 

In addition to the above, a brief synopsis 
of the terms of reference for the following 
Board Committees will also be uploaded in 
due course: 

Audit Committee
HR and Remuneration Committee

35(1) (2)

4 Annual evaluation of Board’s 
own performance

A performance evaluation of the Board’s 
own performance was conducted during 
the year. However, evaluations for two 
directors, Mr. Roberto Longo and Mr. 
Rearngwut Chuenchomsakun, were not 
conducted due to their resignations. Mr. 
Roberto Longo resigned in August 2024, 
while Mr. Rearngwut Chuenchomsakun 
resigned in January 2025, after the year-
end.

10(3)(v)	

Batapur Lahore: 
February 27, 2025

Ms. Jin Zeng
Chairperson of the Board
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BATA PAKISTAN LIMITED

REVIEW REPORT ON THE STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE CONTAINED IN LISTED COMPANIES 
(CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2019

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of 
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of 
Bata Pakistan Limited (the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2024 in accordance with the 
requirements of regulation 36 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the 
Company. Our responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status 
of the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to 
highlight any non-compliance with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily 
to inquiries of the Company’s personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Company 
to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements, we are required to obtain an understanding of the 
accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit 
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal 
control covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal 
controls, the Company’s corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon 
recommendation of the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and 
approval, its related party transactions. We are only required and have ensured compliance of this 
requirement to the extent of the approval of the related party transactions by the Board of Directors 
upon recommendation of the Audit Committee. 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the 
Statement of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material 
respects, with the requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the Company for the 
year ended December 31, 2024.

A.F. Ferguson & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Place: Lahore

Date: March 26, 2025
UDIN: CR202410070eZROwuF0C
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To the members of Bata Pakistan Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of Bata Pakistan Limited (the Company), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting 
policy information and other explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained all the 
information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the 
purposes of the audit. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes forming 
part thereof conform with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and 
give the information required by the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required 
and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at December 31, 
2024 and of the profit and other comprehensive loss, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the 
year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable 
in Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Pakistan (the Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Following is the Key audit matter:

Sr. 
No. Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Revenue Recognition

(Refer notes 5.15 and 32 to the annexed 
financial statements) 

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised 
when performance obligations are satisfied 
by transferring control of a promised good 
to a customer and the control transfers at 
a point in time. The Company is engaged in 
the manufacturing and sale of footwear of all 
kinds, along with the sale of accessories and 
hosiery items (‘goods’) in the local and export 
markets.  

Due to revenue being one of the key 
performance indicators of the Company, a 
large number of revenue transactions with a 
large number of customers, and the inherent 
risk of material misstatement, we consider it 
to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

•	 Understood and evaluated management 
controls over revenue and checked their 
validation;

•	 Performed testing of sample of 
revenue transactions with underlying 
documentation including sales invoices;

•	 Performed cut-off procedures on sample 
basis to ensure revenue has been 
recognized in the correct period; 

•	 Checked on a sample basis, approval of 
sales prices by the appropriate authority;

•	 Checked on sample basis, approval of 
discounts given to the customers;

•	 Performed recalculation of commission 
expense as per Company’s policy on a test 
basis;

•	 Performed analytical procedures to 
analyze variation in the price and quantity 
sold during the year; and

•	 Assessed the adequacy and 
appropriateness of the disclosures made 
in the financial statements related to 
revenue.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the 
requirements of Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
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to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017 
(XIX of 2017);

b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes 
thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in 
agreement with the books of account and returns;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the 
purpose of the Company’s business; and

d) zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980), was deducted 
by the Company and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund established under section 7 of that 
Ordinance.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Khurram 
Akbar Khan.

A.F. Ferguson & Co.  
Chartered Accountants	

Place: Lahore

Date:March 26, 2025 
UDIN: AR202410070qOIQWtRcf 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

441,906,26tnempiuqe dna tnalp ,ytreporP            2,674,127           
341,930,37stessa esu-fo-thgiR            2,984,862          
210,3718stessa elbignatnI                243,899              
580,169stisoped ytiruces mret gnoL                  59,190                 
845,76201tessa xat derrefeD               486,719              

6,149,932 6,448,797 
CURRENT ASSETS

-11strap eraps dna serotS                       -                      
676,400,621edart ni kcotS           5,391,880           
077,141,131stbed edarT             848,554              
296,6841secnavdA                 197,091               
666,98151stnemyaperp mret trohs dna stisoped edarT               223,835              
532,3661selbaviecer rehtO                 85,116                 
051,20371noitaxat rof noisivorp fo ten elbaviecer xat emocnI               39,691                 
155deurcca tseretnI                        21,240                 
560,5481stnemtsevni mret trohS                 945,011               
161,05391tnemnrevoG morf eud sdnufer xaT                350,161               
443,44502secnalab knab dna hsaC               1,570,298           

8,728,310           9,672,877           

TOTAL ASSETS 14,878,242        16,121,674          

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Authorized share capital 21.1 100,000             100,000             

006,572.12latipac erahs pu diap dna debircsbus ,deussI                 75,600                

Reserves
38422evreser latipaC                             483                      
240,074,532sevreser euneveR                 5,605,941           

5,470,525           5,606,424          
521,645,5ytiuqe latoT            5,682,024          

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

299,776,242seitilibail esaeL            2,824,598          
442,1252stisoped mret gnoL                  23,991                 
108,7462snoitagilbo stifeneb eeyolpmE                  44,535                 
333,8272deruces - noitutitsni laicnanif morf secnanif mret gnoL                 34,630                

2,775,370           2,927,754           
CURRENT LIABILITIES

808,850,142seitilibail esael fo noitrop tnerruC           851,483              
692,672secnanif mret gnol fo noitrop tnerruC                    6,296                   
599,213,482selbayap rehto dna edarT            5,899,787           
000,33392deruces - noitutitsni laicnanif morf sgniworrob mret trohS -                                   
665,82tsoc ecnanif deurccA                 368                      
361,93703dnedivid diapnU                682,304             
919,77dnedivid demialcnU                  71,658                 

6,556,747           7,511,896            
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 31

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 14,878,242        16,121,674          
10,693,121         

The annexed notes 1 to 53 form an integral part of these financial statements.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

Chief Executive Chief Financial officer Director
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

23ten - sremotsuc htiw stcartnoc morf euneveR
33selas fo tsoC

tiforp ssorG

43stsoc noitubirtsiD
53sesnepxe evitartsinimdA
3.31stessa laicnanif no ssol tnemriapmi teN

63sesnepxe rehtO
73emocni rehtO
83stsoc ecnaniF

xat emocni erofeb tiforP

93xat emocnI

raey eht rof tiforP

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

 xat fo ten - ytilibail tifeneb denifed fo tnemerusaemeR
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

raey eht rof ssol evisneherpmoc rehtO

raey eht rof emocni evisneherpmoc latoT

         19,262,623        
         (10,116,127)         
           9,146,496           

         (5,557,515)          
         (1,808,415)         
               (21,006)              
              (191,243)             
              527,857              
            (753,161)              

           1,343,013           

            (426,725)            

             916,288              

                 (721)                     
-                      -                      

                 (721)                     

              915,567               

                 121.20                 

164,233,81
)903,813,9(

251,410,9

)179,492,5(
)499,798,1(
)310,53(
)604,59(

712,363
)726,966(

853,483,1

)826,335(

037,058

)928,3(

)928,3(

109,648

35.21104)erahs rep seepuR( detulid dna cisab - erahs rep sgninraE

The annexed notes 1 to 53 form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Chief Executive Chief Financial officer Director
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 1,384,358           1,343,013            
Adjustments for non-cash charges and other items:

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 6.2 406,842              346,157               
Depreciation of right of use assets 7 1,042,030           1,107,477            
Amortization of intangible assets 8 77,714                  55,661                 
Provision for gratuity 26.3 12,052                 10,902                 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 36 14,121                  4,214                    
Gain on lease modification 37 (102,220)             (189,083)             
Income from short term investments 37 (71,388)                (185,147)              
Exchange (gain)/loss - net 37 (47,796)               84,771                 
Interest / markup costs 38 669,627              675,480              
Impairment loss on trade debts 13.3 35,013                 21,006                 
(Reversal)/provision of slow moving and obsolete stock - net 12.2 (50,194)               97,239                 
(Reversal)/provision for obsolescence of raw material - net 12.1 (7,160)                  16,743 
Provision for obsolescence of stores and spare parts - net 11.1 1,968                   1,638 

1,980,609           2,047,058           
Operating profit before working capital changes 3,364,967           3,390,071           

Effect on cash flow due to working capital changes:

(Increase)/decrease in current assets

Stores and spare parts (1,968)                  (1,638)                  
Stock in trade (555,442)             (393,864)            
Trade debts (328,229)             (42,151)                
Advances 110,399               363,959              
Trade deposits and short term prepayments 34,169                 (32,760)               
Other receivables 21,881                 8,311                    

(719,190)              (98,143)               
(Decrease)/increase in current liabilities

Trade and other payables (1,538,421)          1,169,233            

Cash generated from operations 1,107,356            4,461,161            

Finance costs paid 38 (641,429)             (675,480)             
Income tax paid 17 (575,218)              (609,088)            
Gratuity paid 26.2 (14,313)                (24,132)                

(1,230,960)         (1,308,700)         

Long term security deposits - net (4,642)                 933                       

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (128,246)             3,153,394            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for property, plant and equipment 6.3 (374,060)            (747,986) 
Payments for intangible assets (6,827)                 (115,704)              
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 18,080                16,750                 
Investments made during the year (90,000)              (90,000)              
Investments encashed during the year 90,054                90,051                 
Interest income received 92,077                 171,213                
Net cash outflow from investing activities (270,676)             (675,676)             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 42.1

Dividends paid (919,680) (1,163,218) 
Repayment of long term finances (6,297)                  (84,167)                
Payments of lease liabilities (principal) (933,482)             (1,284,675)          
Net cash outflow from financing activities (1,859,459)          (2,532,060)         

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,258,381)          (54,342)               
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,470,298           2,515,370            
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (573)                     9,270                   
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 42 211,344               2,470,298           

Refer note 42.1 for reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities.

The annexed notes 1 to 53 form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Chief Executive Chief Financial officer Director
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

1 LEGAL STATUS AND OPERATIONS

Sr. No. Business units Geographical location
1 Batapur Factory G.T. Road, P.O. Batapur, Lahore
2 Maraka Factory 26 - km, Multan Road, Lahore

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

ii)        Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.

2.2 Initial application of standards, amendments or an interpretation to existing standards

2.2.1

Bata Pakistan Limited (the Company) was incorporated in Pakistan as a public company limited by shares under the
repealed Companies Act, 1913 (now, Companies Act, 2017) and its shares are quoted on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited.
The registered office of the Company is situated at Batapur, Lahore. The principal activity of the Company is
manufacturing and sale of footwear of all kinds along with sale of accessories and hosiery items. The parent company of
Bata Pakistan Limited is Bafin B.V. (Nederland), whereas the ultimate parent is Compass Limited, Bermuda. Furthermore,
the Company has the following production facilities:

Standards, amendments and interpretations to accounting standards that are effective in current year or
have been early adopted by the Company

The amendment clarifies how conditions that an entity must comply with within twelve months after the reporting period
affect the classification of a liability. The amendment also aims to improve the information an entity provides related to
liabilities subject to these amendments. The amendment clarifies that a liability should be classified as a current liability if
a breach of covenant that gives the lender the right to demand immediate repayment occurs at or prior to the end of the
reporting period, unless sufficient relief is granted by the lender before or at the end of the reporting period.

Certain standards, amendments and interpretations to IFRS are effective for accounting period beginning on January 01,
2024 but are considered not to be relevant to the Company's operations (although they may affect the accounting for
future transactions and events) and are, therefore, not detailed in these financial statements, except for the following:

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in
Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 differ from the IFRS, the provisions of and
directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 have been followed.

The following amendments to existing standards have been published that are applicable to the Company's financial
statements covering annual periods, beginning on or after the following dates:

i) International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and

The Company operates through retail outlets spread across the country with 7 outlets situated in Azad Kashmir, 8 in
Balochistan, 12 in Islamabad Capital Territory, 2 in Gilgit Baltistan, 46 in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, 261 in Punjab and 65
outlets in Sindh.

(a) Amendment to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1, 'Non-current liabilities with covenants' 
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2.2.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Company

The amendments:

(a) Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
(effective for annual period beginning on January 1, 2026)

The above amendments did not result in any significant changes to these finanical statements.

There are certain standards, amendments to the accounting standards and interpretations that are mandatory for the
Company's accounting periods beginning on or after January 01, 2025 but are considered not to be relevant to the
Company's operations and are, therefore, not detailed in these financial statements, except for the following:

In its July 2024 meeting, the IASB discussed and did not object to an IFRIC agenda decision on ‘Disclosure of Revenues
and Expenses for Reportable Segments (IFRS 8 Operating Segments)’. IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires an entity to
disclose specific information about assets, liabilities, and profit or loss by segment. Specifically, IFRS 8 paragraph 23
requires an entity to disclose certain specified items of profit or loss if these are included in the measure of segment profit
or loss reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, or are otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker, even if not included in that measure of segment profit or loss. Some of the requirements in paragraph 23 are very
straightforward – for example, ‘revenues from external customers’ and ‘interest expense’. Others, such as the requirement
to disclose ‘material items of income and expense disclosed in accordance with paragraph 97 of IAS 1’, are much more
judgmental. The decision clarifies how an entity applies those requirements. The key takeaways are that:

(b) IFRIC Agenda Decision – Disclosure of Revenues and Expenses for Reportable Segments (IFRS 8)

i) Material items of income and expense that need to be disclosed as specified items are not limited to only unusual or non-
recurring items.

ii) Determining how much detail needs to be included in the segment reporting will be a matter of judgment considering
the entity’s specific facts and circumstances, the core principle of IFRS 8, and the principles of materiality.

iii) An entity is not required to disclose by reportable segment each item of income and expense presented in its statement
of profit or loss or disclosed in the notes.

- clarify the requirements for the timing of recognition and derecognition of some financial assets and liabilities, with a
new exception for some financial liabilities settled through an electronic cash transfer system;

- clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financial asset meets the solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI) criterion;

- add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual terms that can change cash flows (such as some instruments 
with features linked to the achievement of environment, social and governance (ESG) targets); and

- make updates to the disclosures for equity instruments designated at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
(FVOCI).

An important clarification brought about in these amendments is that a payment instruction (e.g. a cheque) that is
prepared for a future payment will generally not meet the requirements for the financial liability to be discharged and
hence derecognised. The previous practice of financial liabilities being derecognized upon issuance of cheques would need
to be reconsidered.
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- IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards;
- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and its accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7;
- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; and
- IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.

3

4

5

- estimation uncertainties and judgements made in relation to lease accounting - notes 5.4.1 and 24

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(c) International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 18, ‘Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements’ (effective for annual period beginning on January 1, 2027)

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

- estimation of provision for taxation - notes 5.2, 10, 17 and 39

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as otherwise stated.

(b) Annual improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards – Volume 11 (effective for
annual period beginning on January 1, 2026)

Annual improvements are limited to changes that either clarify the wording in an Accounting Standard or correct relatively
minor unintended consequences, oversights or conflicts between the requirements in the Accounting Standards. The 2024
amendments are to the following standards:

This is the new standard on presentation and disclosure in financial statements, with a focus on updates to the statement
of profit or loss. The key new concepts introduced in IFRS 18 relate to:

The Company's material accounting policy information is stated in note 5. The preparation of financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will likely differ from the actual results. Management also needs to
exercise judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies.

- Impairment of financial assets - notes 5.18, 9, 13, 16, 18 and 20
- estimation of provision for obsolescence of stock in trade - notes 5.8 and 12

- estimation of fair value of contingent liabilities - notes 5.10 and 31

The Company is yet to assess the impact of this Standard and amendments to existing standards on its financial
statements.

The material accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

- enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation which apply to the primary financial statements and notes in
general.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which
are more likely to be materially adjusted due to final outcomes deviating from estimates and assumptions made. Detailed
information about each of these estimates and judgements is included in other notes, together with information about the
basis of calculation for each affected line item in the financial statements.

- the structure of the statement of profit or loss;

- required disclosures in the financial statements for certain profit or loss performance measures that are reported outside
an entity’s financial statements (that is, management-defined performance measures); and
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5.1

5.1.1

5.1.2 Post employment benefits

The main features of the schemes operated by the Company for its employees are as follows:

(a) Defined Benefit Plan

a)

b)

(b)

5.2 INCOME TAX

- Upon voluntary retirement by workers, supervisory, and clerical staff, or upon retirement of such
employees at the Company's discretion, or upon their resignation, they will receive three weeks' basic
wages/salary for each completed year of service, provided they have served continuously for at least 15
years for workers and 20 years for supervisory and clerical staff, respectively. If an employee continues
their service after 20 years, gratuity will be calculated up to 21.74 years based on three weeks' basic salary
for each completed year.

- Upon voluntary retirement or resignation of a shop manager, salesman, depot manager, or depot
employee, after 20 years of continuous service, they will receive three weeks' basic wages for each
completed year of service. If the employee continues their service, gratuity will be calculated up to 20
years based on three weeks' basic salary for each completed year.

- For workers, the calculation is based on the highest salary earned within the last twelve months. For
other staff, the calculation involves multiplying their current gross salary by the number of completed
years of service.

- For sales staff, the calculation involves multiplying the average monthly salary of the last twelve months
by the number of completed years of service.

The Company operates two recognized provident fund schemes that are defined contribution plans for all of its employees.
Equal monthly contributions are made both by the Company and the employees to the Employees' Provident Fund and
Managerial Staff Provident Fund at the rates of 8% and 10% of basic salary respectively.

The Company's policy with regard to experience gains and losses is to recognize them as they occur in other
comprehensive income under IAS 19 'Employee Benefits (Revised)'.

Actuarial valuation of defined benefit plan is conducted annually and the most recent valuation was carried out as of
December 31, 2024 using projected unit credit method. The significant assumptions used are detailed in note 26.

Short term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within twelve
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the statement of financial
position.

Defined Contribution Plan

For employees who are members of the provident fund scheme:

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Company operates an un-funded gratuity scheme covering all employees, excluding managerial staff. The entitlement
to gratuity is determined as follows:

For employees who are not members of the provident fund scheme:

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of profit or loss except
to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is
recognized in equity or other comprehensive income as the case may be.
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5.3

5.3.1 Operating fixed assets

The charge for current tax is calculated using prevailing tax rates or tax rates expected to apply to profit for the year if
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in accordance with the prevailing law for taxation of
income, after taking into account tax credits, rebates and exemptions, if any. Management periodically evaluates position
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that the tax authorities will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The charge for current tax also
includes adjustments, where considered necessary, to provision for tax made in previous years arising from assessments
framed during the year for such years. The Company measures its tax balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the Company has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an asset represented by the difference between the sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is recognized as an income or expense in the statement of profit or loss.

The assets' useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end, and adjusted if impact on depreciation
is significant. The Company's estimate of the residual value and useful life of its operating fixed assets as at December 31,
2024 has not required any adjustment.

Proceeds from the sale of items while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management are not deducted from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment. Instead, the Company recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items,
in the statement of profit or loss.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority.

Any change in estimates in future years might affect the carrying amounts of the respective items of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets with a corresponding effect on the depreciation / amortization charge and impairment. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit or loss on the reducing balance method so as to write off the depreciable
amount of an asset over its estimated useful life at annual rates mentioned in note 6.2 after taking into account their
residual values.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Operating fixed assets except freehold land and leasehold land with superstructure are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any identified impairment loss. Freehold land and leasehold land with superstructure is stated at cost
less any identified impairment loss.

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that property, plant and equipment may be
impaired. If such indication exists, the carrying amounts of such assets are reviewed to assess whether they are recorded
in excess of their recoverable amount. Where carrying values exceed the respective recoverable amount, assets are written
down to their recoverable amounts and the resulting impairment loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where an impairment loss is
recognized, the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future periods to allocate the asset's revised carrying amount over its
estimated useful life.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to statement of profit or loss during the year in
which they are incurred.

Deferred
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5.3.2 Capital work in progress

5.4

The Company is both the lessor and the lessee.

5.4.1

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company:

LEASES

Lessee accounting

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 

For leases which are not short term (of a period less than twelve months) or of low monetary value, the lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date. The lease
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases of the Company, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right of use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
- variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
- amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees;

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option or not to exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods covered by termination
options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). While
making this assessment, the Company considers significant penalties to terminate (or not extend) as well as the significant
cost of business disruption.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. It is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in fixed lease payments or an index or rate, change
in the Company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. The corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right of use asset, or is recorded in the statement of profit or loss if the
carrying amount of right of use asset has been reduced to zero.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available
for use by the Company.

All expenditure connected with specific assets incurred during installation and construction period and/or in transit are
carried under capital work in progress. These are transferred to specific assets as and when assets are available for use.
Capital work in progress is stated at cost, less any identified impairment loss.

Lease payments include the following:

- where possible, uses the recent third party financing received by the Company as a starting point, adjusted to reflect the
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option, less any lease
incentives receivable.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the
liability. Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

- uses expected terms of third party financing based on correspondence with the third party financial institutions, where
third party financing was not received recently; and
- makes adjustments specific to the lease e.g. terms and security.
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5.4.2

5.5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

5.6

5.7

The right of use asset is initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentive
received. The right of use asset is depreciated on a straight line method over the lease term as this method most closely
reflects the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits. The right of use asset is reduced by impairment
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term and low value leases are recognised on a straight line basis as an expense in the
statement of profit or loss.

Amortization is charged to statement of profit or loss using the straight line method, so as to write off the cost of an asset
over its estimated useful life. Amortization is being charged at the annual rates of 25% on computer software and 20% on
POS software, on straight line basis.

Lessor accounting

Expenditure incurred to acquire and develop the point of sale (POS) and computer software is capitalized as intangible
assets and stated at cost less accumulated amortization and any identified impairment loss.

Investments intended to be held for less than twelve months from the reporting date or to be sold to raise operating
capital, are included in current assets. All other investments are classified as non-current. Management determines the
appropriate classification of its investments at the time of the purchase and re-evaluates such designation on a regular
basis.

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that intangible asset may be impaired. If such
indication exists, the carrying amount of such assets are reviewed to assess whether they are recorded in excess of their
recoverable amount. Where carrying values exceed the respective recoverable amount, assets are written down to their
recoverable amounts and the resulting impairment loss is recognized in statement of profit or loss. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where an impairment loss is recognized, the
amortization charge is adjusted in the future periods to allocate the asset's revised carrying amount over its estimated
useful life.

Lease income from operating leases where the Company is a lessor is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying
asset and recognized as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are
included in the statement of financial position based on their nature.

These are valued at lower of weighted average cost or net realizable value except for items in transit which are stated at
invoice value along with any other charges associated with buying the inventory for its intended use. The Company reviews
the carrying amount of stores and spare parts on a regular basis for provision for obsolescence.

Useful lives of intangible operating assets are reviewed, at each reporting date and adjusted if the impact of amortization is
significant.

STORES AND SPARE PARTS

Provision for obsolescence of stores and spare parts is made on the basis of management's best estimate of usability of
items and considering the ageing analysis prepared on an item by item basis.

INVESTMENTS

When there is a change in scope of a lease, or the consideration for a lease, that was not part of the original terms and
conditions of the lease, it is accounted for as a lease modification. The lease modification is accounted for as a separate
lease if modification increases the scope of lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets and the
consideration for lease increases by an amount that is commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
adjusted to reflect the circumstances of the particular contracts, if any. When the lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the lease liability is remeasured and corresponding adjustment is made to right-of-use asset.
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5.8

Raw material

tsoc egareva dethgiew ta-desahcruP

tsoc lautca ta-tisnart nI

Goods in process - at production cost

Finished goods

Own production - at production cost on first in first out (FIFO) basis

sisab )OFIF( tuo tsrif ni tsrif no tsoc lautca ta-desahcruP

tsoc lautca ta-tisnart nI

5.9 TRADE DEBTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

5.10

-

-

-

- 

Trade debts and other receivables are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Company, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than one year past due
(considered as default).

Trade debts and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless they
contain significant financing component in which case such are recognised at fair value. The Company holds the trade
debts with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures the trade debts subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less loss allowance.

If the expected net realizable value is lower than the carrying amount, a write-down is recognized for the amount by which
the carrying amount exceeds its net realizable value. Provision is made in the financial statements for obsolete and slow
moving stock in trade based on management's best estimate, considering the aging analysis prepared on an item by item
basis.

Stock in trade is valued at the lower of cost and estimated net realizable value. Cost is determined as follows:

STOCK IN TRADE

There is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of
the Company; or

There is a present obligation that arises from past events but it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Cost of work in process and finished goods comprises cost of direct materials, labor and related production overheads
(based on normal operating capacity). Net realizable value is based on estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated cost of completion and estimated cost necessary to make the sale.

Contingent liability is disclosed when:

The single most likely outcome; or

A weighted average of all the possible outcomes (the ‘expected value’ method). This is likely to be the most
appropriate method for a large population of similar claims, but can also be applied to a single obligation
with various possible outcomes.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

Contingent liabilities are generally estimated using:
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5.11

a) Functional and presentation currency

b) Transactions and balances

5.12

5.13

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATIONS

All other borrowing costs are recognised in statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss
as other income or finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish
all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

BORROWINGS

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates (the functional currency). The financial statements are presented in Pak
Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates, are generally
recognised in statement of profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance
costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within
other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss, and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of the reporting period, the Company has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Company is required to comply with, on or before the end of the reporting period, are considered in
classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants that the Company is required to
comply with after the reporting period do not affect the classification at the reporting date.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of
loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent that there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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5.14

5.15

In case of:
Retail:

Wholesale:

Exports:

5.16

5.17

Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations are recognised when the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. For the purposes of the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances, cheques in hand, deposits held at call with banks,
and other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less which form an integral part
of the Company’s cash management.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

FINANCE INCOME

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (financial assets), dividend income, gain on disposal of
financial assets and changes in fair value of investments. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in the statement of
profit or loss, using effective interest rate method. Dividend income is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on the
date that the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

Revenue is recognised when performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a promised good to a customer
and the control transfers at a point in time. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable
excluding discounts allowed to customers, commissions and government levies.

The Company operates a loyalty programme where retail customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle
them to discount on future purchases. A contract liability for the award points is recognized at the time of the sale.
Revenue is recognized when the points are redeemed or when they expire.

The Company does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or
services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Company does not adjust
any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

PROVISIONS

The Company recognized its revenue from the following income streams as follows:

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when performance obligation is satisified i.e. at the time of
transferring control of retail items to a customer.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when performance obligation is satisified i.e. at the time of
dispatch of goods from the factory premises.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when performance obligation is satisified i.e. at the time of
transferring control to a customer. This is usually when the customer accepts the order.
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5.18

5.18.1 Classification

5.18.2 Recognition and derecognition

5.18.3 Measurement

Debt instruments

iii) FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the Company
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Company classifies its debt
instruments:

i) Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss. Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

ii) FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in other income using the effective interest rate method. Impairment expenses are presented as a separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value [either through other comprehensive income ('OCI') or through profit or
loss]; and
- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Company has made an irrevocable election at the 
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
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Equity instruments

Impairment of financial assets

- Long term security deposits;
- Trade debts;
- Deposits and other receivables;
- Interest accrued;

- Bank 
balances

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income. Where the
Company’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Company’s right to
receive payments is established.

Following are the financial assets that are subject to the ECL model:

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its financial assets. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade debts,
the company applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure the expected credit losses (loss allowance) which uses a life
time expected loss allowance to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, while general 3-stage approach
for other financial assets such as deposits, bank balances and other receivables i.e. to measure ECL through loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL if credit risk on a financial instrument or a group of financial instruments has not
increased significantly since initial recognition.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has
concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The assessment of no reasonable expectation of recovery is
based on unavailability of debtor’s sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash flows to repay the amount.
The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off will result in impairment gains.

- Short term investments; and

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information (adjusted for factors that are specific to the
counterparty, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate). As for the exposure at default for
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

The measurement of ECL reflects: 

- an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- the time value of money; and
- reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

The Company recognizes an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss for financial assets with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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5.19 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

5.20 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

5.21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

5.22 CONTRACT ASSET AND CONTRACT LIABILITY

5.23

5.24

All financial liabilities are recognized at the time when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value less transaction costs. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in
statement of profit or loss.

Trade payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 to 90 days of recognition. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at the end of each reporting period.

Dividend and other appropriation to reserves are recognized in the financial statements in the period in which these are
approved.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements only when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amount and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis
or to realize the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Gain and losses are recognized in the profit or loss, when the liabilities are
derecognized as well as through effective interest rate amortization process.

A contract asset is recognised for the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that it has
transferred to a customer. If the Company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, the Company presents the amount as a contract asset, excluding any amounts
presented as a receivable.

A contract liability is recognised for the Company’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Company has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays
consideration, or the Company has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e. a receivable), before the 
Company transfers a good or service to the customer, the entity shall present the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). 

DIVIDEND AND APPROPRIATION TO RESERVES

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. Where an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in respective carrying amounts is recognized in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

5.25

5.26

5.27

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

532,326,2927,795,22.6stessa dexif gnitarepO            

514,113.6ssergorp ni krow latipaC                   50,892                

2,609,144           2,674,127           

6.1  Particulars of immovable property (i.e. land and building) in the name of the Company are as follows:

noitacoL.oN .rS  aerA latoT
(Square Feet)

 088,047              aerA yrotcaF rupataBaerA yrotcaF1

 229,639,1            aerA laitnediseR rupataBaerA laitnediseR2

 857,704               dnuorG stropS rupataBdnuorG stropS3

 061,353               aerA yrotcaF akaraMaerA yrotcaF4

 990,4                   erohaL ,rupataB razaB ataBerotS liateR5

 009,3                   erohaL ,rupataB ecirP iniMerotS liateR6

 238,9                   erohaL ,II akaraMerotS liateR7

 008,1                   dabamalsI tekraM arapbaAerotS liateR8

 032,3                   eerruM daoR hanniJerotS liateR9

Segment results and assets include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports issued to the chief operating decision-
maker. The Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the ‘chief operating decision-maker’, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. Based on internal management reporting
structure, the Company is organized into four operating segments:

Usage of Immovable 
Property

- Wholesale: This segment includes information relating to sales made to distributors of the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recognized at their face value. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, if any.

- Others: All other sales of the Company including sales of grinderies and wastages are included in this segment. 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest thousand Rupees unless
otherwise stated.

Management monitors the operating results of above mentioned segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources to be allocated and for assessing performance.

- Export: This segment includes information regarding the exports made by the Company to both associated undertakings
and other customers. 

- Retail: This segment includes information relating to sales made from retail stores of the Company.
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 204,3                   idniplawaR daoR rimhsaKerotS liateR01

 056,2                   idniplawaR gnidliuB ijaHerotS liateR11

 441,1                    ahdograS razaB nimAerotS liateR21

 085                       bahsuhKerotS liateR31

 021,1                    nidduahaB idnaM razaB raddaSerotS liateR41

 125                        alawnarjuG I daoR .T .GerotS liateR51

 085,1                    erohaL ilakranA rabhkA asiaPerotS liateR61

 008,1                   erohaL ,daoR miraK ludbAerotS liateR71

18 Retail Store Moon Plaza Liberty Market, Lahore                        559 

19 Retail Store Marie Claire Liberty Market, Lahore                        750 

 919                       erohaL ,tekraM namdahSerotS liateR02

 225                       erohaL aradhahSerotS liateR12

 621,2                    dabalasiaF razaB yrehctaKerotS liateR22

 773                       atteuQ razaB tauqaiLerotS liateR32

 546                       rukkuS daoR ererFerotS liateR42

 065,7                    ihcaraK ,I daoR qiraTerotS liateR52

26 Retail Store Tariq Road Bubble Gummer, Karachi                     1,200 

 357                       ihcaraK ,I ynoloC lasiaF hahSerotS liateR72

 441,1                    ihcaraK notfilCerotS liateR82

 826,2                   ihcaraK kwohC natsikaPerotS liateR92

 044,4                   ihcaraK teertS ydeerPerotS liateR03



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 88

6.
2

O
pe

ra
ti

ng
 fi

xe
d 

as
se

ts
   

   
   

   Fr
ee

ho
ld

 
la

n
d 

*

Le
as

eh
ol

d 
la

n
d 

w
it

h 
su

pe
r 

st
ru

ct
ur

e*
*

B
ui

ld
in

gs
 o

n
 

fr
ee

ho
ld

 la
n

d 
-  

fa
ct

or
y

B
ui

ld
in

gs
 o

n
 

fr
ee

ho
ld

 la
n

d 
- 

ot
he

rs

P
la

n
t a

n
d 

m
ac

hi
n

er
y

B
oi

le
rs

G
as

 
in

st
al

la
ti

on
s

O
ffi

ce
 

eq
ui

pm
en

t
C

om
pu

te
rs

Fu
rn

it
ur

e,
 

fi
xt

ur
es

 a
n

d 
fi

tt
in

gs
V

eh
ic

le
s

To
ta

l

N
et

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
va

lu
e 

ba
si

s

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1, 
20

24

O
pe

ni
ng

 n
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
e 

(N
BV

)
2,

50
8

   
   

   
35

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

16
8,

22
4

388,55
                     

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

64
6,

53
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

07
7

   
   

   
  

50
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
98

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
26

9,
17

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,4
64

,8
80

   
   

   
5,

43
3

   
   

   
   

  
2,

62
3,

23
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
)tsoc ta( snoitiddA

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
11

,2
30

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

5,
05

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
19

,2
06

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

25
,5

53
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

34
8,

46
6

   
   

   
   

 
4,

02
3

   
   

   
   

  
41

3,
53

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

)VB
N ta( slasopsi

D
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
(2

,10
5)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(3
0,

09
6)

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

(3
2,

20
1)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
ch

ar
ge

 - 
no

te
 6

.4
-

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(1

7,
36

1)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(2

,9
96

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(6

5,
45

8)
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

(6
08

)
   

   
   

   
(5

0)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(3

96
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(7

0,
93

2)
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(2
47

,2
47

)
   

   
   

   
(1

,7
94

)
   

   
   

   
 

(4
06

,8
42

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

Cl
os

in
g 

ne
t b

oo
k 

va
lu

e 
(N

BV
)

2,
50

8
   

   
   

35
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
16

2,
09

3
649,75

                     
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
60

0,
28

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

46
9

   
   

   
  

45
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
58

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
22

1,6
90

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,5

36
,0

03
   

   
   

 
7,

66
2

   
   

   
   

  
2,

59
7,

72
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

G
ro

ss
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

va
lu

e 
ba

si
s

As
 a

t D
ec

em
be

r 3
1, 

20
24

805,2
tsoC

   
   

   
35

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

36
0,

58
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
12

5,
62

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,2
83

,6
58

   
   

   
   

   
 

13
,9

10
   

   
   

2,
23

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

8,
44

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
49

4,
28

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
48

3,
80

4
   

   
   

29
,2

25
   

   
   

   
5,

80
4,

31
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
Ac

cu
m

ul
at

ed
 d

ep
re

ci
at

io
n

-
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

(1
98

,4
92

)
)876,76(

                   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(6
83

,3
78

)
   

   
   

   
   

  
(8

,4
41

)
   

   
   

(1
,7

78
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(4

,8
56

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(2

72
,5

95
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

(1
,9

47
,8

01
)

   
   

   
(2

1,5
63

)
   

   
   

  
(3

,2
06

,5
82

)
   

   
   

   
   

 

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
e 

(N
BV

)
2,

50
8

   
   

   
35

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

16
2,

09
3

649,75
                     

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

60
0,

28
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

5,
46

9
   

   
   

  
45

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

58
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

22
1,6

90
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,5
36

,0
03

   
   

   
 

7,
66

2
   

   
   

   
  

2,
59

7,
72

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
ra

te
 p

er
 a

nn
um

0%
0%

10
%

5%
10

%
10

%
10

%
10

%
25

%
15

%
20

%

N
et

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
va

lu
e 

ba
si

s

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1, 
20

23

O
pe

ni
ng

 n
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
e 

(N
BV

)
2,

50
8

   
   

   
35

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

16
2,

78
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
42

,8
08

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
46

8,
52

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
75

2
   

   
   

  
56

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

09
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

16
7,

82
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,2

14
,11

7
   

   
   

   
7,

61
2

   
   

   
   

   
2,

07
5,

61
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

)tsoc ta( snoitiddA
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

22
,9

16
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
15

,5
86

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

23
6,

68
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
14

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
15

4,
73

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

48
2,

67
2

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

91
4,

73
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
)VB

N ta( slasopsi
D

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(1

,9
40

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(1
,0

67
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(1
7,

20
4)

   
   

   
   

  
(7

53
)

   
   

   
   

   
 

(2
0,

96
4)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
ch

ar
ge

 - 
no

te
 6

.4
-

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(1

7,
47

7)
)115,2(

                       
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
(5

6,
73

3)
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

(6
75

)
   

   
   

   
 

(5
6)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

(2
60

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(5
2,

31
4)

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
(2

14
,7

05
)

   
   

   
   

(1
,4

26
)

   
   

   
   

 
(3

46
,15

7)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

Cl
os

in
g 

ne
t b

oo
k 

va
lu

e 
(N

BV
)

2,
50

8
   

   
   

35
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
16

8,
22

4
388,55

                     
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
64

6,
53

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
07

7
   

   
   

  
50

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

98
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

26
9,

17
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,4

64
,8

80
   

   
   

5,
43

3
   

   
   

   
  

2,
62

3,
23

5
   

   
   

   
   

   

G
ro

ss
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

va
lu

e 
ba

si
s

As
 a

t D
ec

em
be

r 3
1, 

20
23

805,2
tsoC

   
   

   
35

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

34
9,

35
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
12

0,
56

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,2
64

,4
52

   
   

   
   

   
 

13
,9

10
   

   
   

2,
23

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

8,
45

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
47

7,
62

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
25

0,
49

0
   

   
   

25
,2

02
   

   
   

  
5,

51
4,

82
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
Ac

cu
m

ul
at

ed
 d

ep
re

ci
at

io
n

-
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

(1
81

,13
0)

)186,46(
                    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
(6

17
,9

20
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

(7
,8

33
)

   
   

   
(1

,7
28

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
(4

,4
69

)
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
(2

08
,4

48
)

   
   

   
   

   
 

(1
,7

85
,6

10
)

   
   

   
(1

9,
76

9)
   

   
   

  
(2

,8
91

,5
88

)
   

   
   

   
   

  

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
e 

(N
BV

)
2,

50
8

   
   

   
35

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

16
8,

22
4

388,55
                     

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

64
6,

53
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

07
7

   
   

   
  

50
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3,
98

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
26

9,
17

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,4
64

,8
80

   
   

   
5,

43
3

   
   

   
   

  
2,

62
3,

23
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
ra

te
 p

er
 a

nn
um

0%
0%

10
%

5%
10

%
10

%
10

%
10

%
25

%
15

%
20

%

* ** 6.
2.

1

6.
3

C
ap

it
al

 w
or

k 
in

 p
ro

gr
es

s

O
pe

n
in

g 
ba

la
n

ce
A

dd
it

io
n

s
Tr

an
sf

er
s

C
lo

si
n

g 
ba

la
n

ce
O

pe
n

in
g 

ba
la

n
ce

A
dd

it
io

n
s

Tr
an

sf
er

s
C

lo
si

ng
 b

al
an

ce

846,5
gnidliuB

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
85

9
   

   
   

  
(1

0,
50

7)
-

                
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

5,
87

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
(2

22
)

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
64

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

001,7
erutinru F

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

1,5
35

   
   

   
  

(3
,2

59
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

5,
37

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
20

,18
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
61

,2
83

   
   

   
   

   
(7

4,
36

8)
001,7

          
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

638,4
yrenihca

M
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
9,

05
0

   
   

   
 

(1
0,

59
5)

192,3
                

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

14
5,

73
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
62

,5
91

   
   

   
   

   
 

(2
03

,4
94

)
638,4

       
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

803,33
retup

moC
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

23
,5

90
   

   
  

(5
4,

15
0)

847,2
                

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

51
,7

20
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
27

,4
63

   
   

   
   

   
(4

5,
87

5)
803,33

          
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
50

,8
92

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
39

,0
34

   
   

  
(7

8,
51

1)
   

   
   

   
   

  
11

,4
15

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

21
7,

64
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
15

7,
20

7
   

   
   

   
  

(3
23

,9
59

)
298,05

        
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

(R
up

ee
s 

in
 '0

0
0

)

(R
up

ee
s 

in
 '0

0
0

)
(R

up
ee

s 
in

 '0
0

0
)

20
23

20
24

Fr
ee

ho
ld

 la
nd

 re
pr

es
en

ts
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f B
at

ap
ur

 fa
ct

or
y 

an
d 

M
ar

ak
a 

fa
ct

or
y.

Le
as

eh
ol

d 
la

nd
 re

pr
es

en
ts

 a
 p

ie
ce

 o
f l

an
d 

ob
ta

in
ed

 fr
om

 C
ap

ita
l D

ev
el

op
m

en
t A

ut
ho

ri
ty

 in
 19

65
, m

ea
su

ri
ng

 1,
80

0 
sq

ua
re

 fe
et

 si
tu

at
ed

 in
 Is

la
m

ab
ad

.

Th
e

as
se

ts
in

cl
ud

e
fu

rn
itu

re
,fi

xt
ur

es
&

fit
tin

gs
an

d
co

m
pu

te
rs

am
ou

nt
in

g
to

R
s

12
5.

98
1m

ill
io

n
(2

02
3:

R
s

19
4.

59
2

m
ill

io
n)

,w
hi

ch
ar

e
in

th
e

na
m

e
of

th
e

Co
m

pa
ny

bu
ta

re
in

po
ss

es
si

on
of

va
ri

ou
s

bu
si

ne
ss

as
so

ci
at

es
.T

he
se

as
se

ts
ar

e
pr

ov
id

ed
un

de
ra

co
nt

ra
ct

,t
o

ru
n 

op
er

at
io

ns
 o

f t
he

 re
ta

il 
sh

op
s t

o 
se

ll 
Co

m
pa

ny
’s 

m
er

ch
an

di
se

 e
xc

lu
si

ve
ly

.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 89

6.
4

A
ll

oc
at

io
n 

of
 d

ep
re

ci
at

io
n 

ex
pe

n
se

Th
e 

de
pr

ec
ia

tio
n 

ch
ar

ge
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r h
as

 b
ee

n 
al

lo
ca

te
d 

as
 fo

llo
w

s:

154,38
1.33

selas fo tsoC       
319,47

                     
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

013,182
4.43

stsoc noitubirtsi
D       

345,942
             

      
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

180,24
53

sesnepxe evitartsini
mdA       

107,12
               

      
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

40
6,

84
2

751,643
            

      
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  

6.
5

Sa
le

 o
f f

ix
ed

 a
ss

et
s

fo edo
M

elaS

elas
sdeecorp

Ve
hi
cl
e

110,6
 da

mhA naziaF
   

   
   

   
   

  
69

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
5,

33
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

4,
64

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 A

s p
er

 C
om

pa
ny

 p
ol

ic
y 

6,
01

1
   

   
   

   
  

69
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
5,

33
1

046,4
                    

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

6.
5.

1
Th

e 
Co

m
pa

ny
 o

r a
ny

 o
f i

ts
 d

ir
ec

to
rs

 a
re

 n
ot

 re
la

te
d 

to
 th

e 
pu

rc
ha

se
rs

.

20
23

Th
e
ag
gr
eg
at
e
bo
ok

va
lu
e
of
op
er
at
in
g
fix
ed

as
se
ts
so
ld
du
ri
ng

th
e
cu
rr
en
ty
ea
re
xc
ee
ds
R
s
5,
00
0,
00
0.
H
ow
ev
er
,t
he

bo
ok

va
lu
e
of
ea
ch
as
se
ts
ol
d
is
no
tm

or
e
th
an

R
s
50
0,
00
0,
so
th
e
pa
rt
ic
ul
ar
s

of
ea

ch
as

se
ta

re
no

td
et

ai
le

d.
Th

e
di

sp
os

al
s

du
ri

ng
th

e
cu

rr
en

ty
ea

r
m

ai
nl

y
co

ns
is

to
fa

ss
et

s
ab

an
do

ne
d

up
on

va
ca

tin
g

re
ta

il
ou

tle
ts

an
d

as
se

ts
th

at
ha

ve
be

en
w

ri
tt

en
of

fb
ec

au
se

th
ey

ar
e

no
lo

ng
er

 u
sa

bl
e.

O
ut

si
de

 p
ar

ty

(R
up

ee
s 

in
 th

ou
sa

nd
)

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s 

 o
f a

ss
et

s
eulav koo

B
tso

C
ot dloS         

G
ai

n
 o

n 
sa

le

20
24

20
23

(R
up

ee
s 

in
 '0

00
)

 N
ot

e 



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 90

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost

633,096,810 yraunaJ ta sa ecnalab gninepO           7,972,699           

317,473snoitiddA                242,076              
)616,473(stnemtsujda noitacifidoM              (339,347)             

412,690,1slawener ot eud AUOR no tceffE            814,908              

746,687,913 rebmeceD ta sa ecnalab gnisolC            8,690,336          

Depreciation

474,507,510 yraunaJ ta sa ecnalab gninepO            4,597,997           
030,240,14.43raey eht rof egrahC           1,107,477            
405,747,613 rebmeceD ta sa ecnalab gnisolC            5,705,474           

341,930,313 rebmeceD ta sa eulav kooB            2,984,862          

8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets - POS and computer software                242,790              

-                      1,109                   

173,012               243,899              

Note

Computer 
software

POS software 
at retail stores Total

8.1 COST

Balance as at January 01, 2024 63,216           353,367              416,583              
Additions during the year 1,405              6,412                   7,817                   
Balance as at December 31, 2024 64,621           359,779              424,400             

(Rupees in '000)

Capital work in progress - computer software

This represents right-of-use assets (ROUA) (retail shops) obtained on lease. These are being depreciated on straight line
basis over their lease terms. Reconciliation of the carrying amount is as follows:

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

AMORTIZATION

Balance as at January 01, 2024 43,591           130,202              173,793               
Charge for the year 8.2 5,816              71,779                 77,595                 
Balance as at December 31, 2024 49,407           201,981               251,388              

412,5113 rebmeceD ta sa eulav kooB             157,798               173,012               

Amortization rate is 25.00% per annum for computer software and 20.00% per annum for POS software at retail stores.

Note

Computer 
software

POS software 
at retail stores Total

COST

Balance as at January 01, 2023 48,082          239,577              287,659              
Additions during the year 15,134            113,790               128,924              
Balance as at December 31, 2023 63,216           353,367              416,583              

AMORTIZATION

Balance as at January 01, 2023 40,287           77,845 118,132               
Charge for the year 8.2 3,304             52,357                 55,661                 
Balance as at December 31, 2023 43,591           130,202              173,793               

526,9113 rebmeceD ta sa eulav kooB            223,165               242,790              

Amortization rate is 25.00% per annum for computer software and 20.00% per annum for POS software at retail stores.

8.2

43stsoc noitubirtsiD                         73,601                   52,357 
53sesnepxe evitartsinimdA                           4,113                    3,304 

77,714                 55,661                 

(Rupees in '000)

The amortization charge for the year has been allocated as follows:
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9 LONG TERM SECURITY DEPOSITS

580,161.9stisoped ytiruceS                 59,190                 

9.1

10 DEFERRED TAX ASSET

The deferred tax asset comprises of temporary differences relating to:

Deferred tax liability
)153,502(noitaicerped xat detareleccA              (230,537)

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

             

Deferred tax asset
680,272stessa esu-fo-thgir fo ten seitilibail esaeL               268,136              
246,81snoitagilbo stifeneb eeyolpmE                 17,276                 
969,31strap eraps dna serots rof noisivorP                  13,131                  
759,93edart ni kcots rof noisivorP                 61,992                 
226,85stbed edart no ecnawolla ssoL                 44,727                 
300,5selbaviecer rehto no ecnawolla ssoL                   4,976                   
307,2secnavda no ecnawolla ssoL                   2,688                  

-kcab nettirw seitilibaiL                       304,330             
719,161.01xaT etaroproC evitanretlA                  -                      

267,548              486,719              

10.1

10.2 The gross movement in net deferred tax asset during the
   year is as follows:

917,684ecnalab gninepO               350,693              
)968,022(93ssol ro tiforp fo tnemetats ot detiderc/)degrahC(             135,569               

896,13.01emocni evisneherpmoc rehto ot detiderC                    457                      
845,762ecnalab gnisolC               486,719              

10.3

11 STORES AND SPARE PARTS

989,2serotS                   3,072                  
828,23strap erapS                 30,777                 

35,817                 33,849                
718,531.11ecnecselosbo rof noisivorp :sseL                  33,849                

-                      -                      

These represents the securities given to landlords in respect of leases of shops. The present value adjustment in accordance
with the requirements of IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' is not considered material and hence, not recognized.

This relates to the accounting year ended December 31, 2024, and is available for adjustment against normal tax liability
for the next ten years, after which it will expire. A deferred tax asset on the tax credit available for carry forward has been
recognized to the extent that the realization of related tax benefits is available from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences and future taxable profits. Based on the Company's approved business plan, it is probable that
sufficient future taxable profits will be available for the utilization of the deferred tax asset.

This represents tax impact of remeasurement of defined benefit obligation recognized in other comprehensive income.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
11.1 Provision for obsolescence

948,33noisivorp gninepO                 32,211                 
869,1raey eht rof egrahC                    1,638                   
718,53noisivorp gnisolC                  33,849                

12 STOCK IN TRADE

Raw materials
855,892dnah nI               487,336              
787,1tisnart nI                    29,781                 

300,345             517,117                
680,511.21slairetam war fo ecnecselosbo rof noisivorp :sseL                 22,246                

285,259              494,871              

Goods in process 69,482                72,532                

Finished goods
619,091,2noitcudorp nwO            2,134,108           
783,645,3desahcruP            2,827,931           

5,737,303           4,962,039          

Less: provision for slow moving and obsolete
863,782.21sdoog dehsinif fo smeti                   137,562               

Finished goods 5,649,935          4,824,477           

6,004,676          5,391,880           

12.1 Provision for obsolescence of raw materials

642,22noisivorp gninepO                 5,503                  
)061,7(raey eht rof egrahc/)lasreveR(                  16,743                 

680,51noisivorp gnisolC                 22,246                

12.2 Provision for slow moving and obsolete
   items of finished goods

265,731noisivorp gninepO                40,323                
)491,05(raey eht rof egrahc/)lasreveR(                97,239                

863,78noisivorp gnisolC                 137,562               

13 TRADE DEBTS

589,342,11.31sremotsuc morf euD            955,873              
890,842.31seitrap detaler morf euD                7,981                   

1,292,083           963,854              

)313,051(3.31ecnawolla ssoL              (115,300)             
1,141,770            848,554              

13.1

13.2 Due from related parties

281,14detimiL )ayneK( ynapmoC eohS ataB                  -                      
035,6detimiL hsedalgnaB ynapmoC eohS ataB                   2,527                   
683aisenodnI ,ataB utapeS .T.P                      -                      

-detimiL ynapmoC cilbuP dnaliahT fo eohS ataB                       5,454                   
48,098               7,981                   

These customers have no recent history of default.

Maximum aggregate amount due from related parties at the end of any month in the year was Rs 53.923 million (2023: Rs 
7.981 million). These are interest free and the aging analysis of trade debts from related parties that are past due is as
follows:
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

 507,5                     846,83                 syad 09 ot pU
 199                        713,1                     syad 081 ot 19
 582,1                     116,5                     syad 563 ot 181
   -                           225,2                    syad 563 evobA

                 48,098                     7,981 

13.3

003,511ecnalab gninepO                94,294                
310,53raey eht rof egrahC                  21,006                
313,051ecnalab gnisolC                115,300               

14 ADVANCES

226,38sreilppus ot secnavdA                 194,021               
000,01nigram - tiderc fo sretteL                 10,000                

93,622                204,021              

039,6secnavda no ssol tnemriapmI :sseL                   6,930                  

86,692                197,091               

15 TRADE DEPOSITS AND SHORT TERM PREPAYMENTS

Deposits
934,3sexat dna ytud motsuC                   2,302                  
921nigram - eetnaraug fo sretteL                       129                      
547,71srehtO                  6,948                  

21,313                 9,379                   
Short term prepayments

382,611.51tner diaperP                  79,123                 
905,401xat selas diaperP               100,480              
165,74sesnepxe diaperp rehtO                  34,853                

168,353              214,456              
189,666              223,835              

15.1

16 OTHER RECEIVABLES

601,61seeyolpme morf elbavieceR                  22,810                
508,2setaber tropxE                   2,893                  

-smialc ecnarusnI                       33                        
131,5tner diaperP                     2,232                   
777,041.61srehtO                  58,732                

64,819                86,700                

)485,1(elbaviecer rehto no ssol tnemriapmI                  (1,584)                 

63,235                85,116                 

16.1

Movement in loss allowance is as follows:

Prepaid rent is amount paid in advance to the respective landlord in accordance with the terms of rent agreements of short
term leases. It is adjusted with the rent payable in accordance with the terms of rent agreements.

This includes receivable from various courier companies aggregating Rs 39.619 million (2023: Rs 56.736 million) in the
ordinary course of business.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

17 INCOME TAX RECEIVABLE NET OF 
      PROVISION FOR TAXATION

196,93)elbayap(/elbaviecer gninepO                  (7,103)                 
812,575raey eht gnirud diap xat ecnavdA                609,088             

)957,213(93noitaxat rof noisivorp tsniaga detsujdA              (562,294)            
051,203ecnalab gnisolC               39,691                 

18 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

This represents term deposit receipts of the following banks:

560,54detimiL knaB natiloporteM bibaH                 445,011               
-detimiL knaB detinU                       500,000             

45,065                945,011               

18.1

18.2

 
19 TAX REFUNDS DUE FROM GOVERNMENT

161,053tnemnrevoG morf eud sdnufer xaT                350,161               

19.1

20 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances in:
        Current accounts:

469,14ycnerruc ngieroF -                  42,422                
771,404ycnerruc lacoL -                477,151               

446,141               519,573               
045,121.02stnuocca tiforp yliaD                         916,260              

795,272.02tisnart ni hsaC                  127,000              

Cash in hand:
782,3ycnerruc ngieroF -                    6,374                   
977ycnerruc lacoL -                       1,091                   

4,066                  7,465                   
544,344              1,570,298           

20.1 The rate of mark-up on these accounts ranges from 5.87% to 20.51% (2023: 7.51% to 20.75%) per annum.

20.2

The investment deposits include those earmarked against the balances due to employees held as securities, as stated in
note 25. These carry a mark-up at the rate of 8.5% (2023: 20.85%) per annum and have been invested in accordance with
the provisions of section 217 of the Companies Act, 2017.

This represents sales tax paid on raw materials used in zero-rated taxable footwear for which refund claims have been
lodged with the Federal Board of Revenue.

The range of rates of profits on these term deposits was between 8.5% and 20.85% (2023: 16.10% and 21.25%) per annum.

This includes credit card sales processed through Point of Sale (POS) terminals at year-end, as well as cash receipts that
have not yet been deposited into the Company's bank accounts by retail store managers.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 96

21 SHARE CAPITAL

21.1 Authorized share capital

32024202

 10,000            10,000 000,001000,001 hcae 01 sR fo serahs yranidrO            

21.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up share capital

32024202

1,890 009,81 hcae 01 sR fo serahs yranidrO                              18,900                
    fully paid in cash 21.2.1

300 000,3deussi hcae 01 sR fo serahs yranidrO                                   3,000                  
    for consideration other than cash 21.2.2

5,370 007,35 hcae 01 sR fo serahs yranidrO                              53,700                
    issued as fully paid bonus shares

7,560              7,560 006,57                              75,600                

21.2.1

21.2.2

21.2.3

22 CAPITAL RESERVE

384evreser latipaC                       483                      

22.1

23 REVENUE RESERVES

General reserve:
000,755,4ecnalab gninepO           4,557,000          

-stiforp detairporppanu ot refsnarT                       -                      
Closing balance 4,557,000          4,557,000          

240,319stiforp detairporppanU               1,048,941           
5,470,042          5,605,941           

24 LEASE LIABILITIES

Shares issued for consideration other than cash were issued against plant and machinery.

Bafin B.V. (Nederland) (the parent company) holds 5,685,866 (2023: 5,685,866) ordinary shares of Rs 10 each fully paid
up which represents 75.21% (2023: 75.21%) of total paid up capital.

The Company has lease contracts for retail outlets. These leases generally have lease terms between 3 to 6 years.

All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. Holders of these shares are entitled to
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company.

(Number of shares in 
'000)

5,370                

1,890                

300                   

This represents the balance of foreign shareholders’ equity in Globe Commercial Enterprises Limited (an associated
undertaking) gifted to the Company on its winding up, and is not available for distribution.

(Number of shares in 
'000)

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

The reconciliation of the carrying amount is as follows:

As at January 1 3,676,081           4,432,202          
249,682raey eht gnirud snoitiddA               142,951               
412,690,1raey eht gnirud slaweneR            814,908              
872,506tseretni fo noiterccA               664,227              

)638,674(ytilibail esael fo noitacifidoM             (528,430)            
)978,054,1(raey eht gnirud edam stnemyaP          (1,849,777)          

As at December 31 3,736,800          3,676,081           

808,850,1seitilibail tnerruc rednu nwohs ytirutam tnerruC :sseL           851,483              

299,776,2seitilibail esael tnerruc-noN            2,824,598          

317,473stessa esu-fo-thgir ot snoitiddA                242,076              
177,78etad tnemecnemmoc ta diap slatner esaeL :sseL                  99,125                 

286,942              142,951               

24.1 The statement of financial position shows 
   the following amounts related to leases:

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 3,039,143           2,984,862          

LEASE LIABILITIES
Current portion 1,058,808          851,483              
Non-current portion 2,677,992           2,824,598          

24.2 The statement of profit or loss shows the following
   amounts relating to leases:

030,240,14.43stessa esu-fo-thgir fo egrahc noitaicerpeD           1,107,477            

872,50683sesael - tsoc ecnaniF               664,227              

258,41543sesael mret trohs ot gnitaler esnepxE                456,339              

022,20173sesael fo noitacifidom no niaG               189,083              

25 LONG TERM DEPOSITS

Employees' securities and personal accounts 21,244                 23,991                 

25.1

26 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS

26.1 Provision for gratuity - un-funded defined benefit plan 47,801                44,535                

Employees' securities are the deposits made by employees as per their employment terms. An interest rate of 8.5% (2023:
20.85%) per annum is paid on the monthly outstanding balances. As required by section 217 of the Companies Act, 2017,
these amounts are invested in Term Deposit Receipts and are classified as short-term investments in note 18.
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
26.2 Changes in present value of defined benefit obligations

Present value of defined benefit obligations as at January 01 44,535                56,587                
Expense charged in statement of profit or loss 12,052                 10,902                
Benefits paid during the year (14,313)                (24,132)               
Remeasurement adjustments charged to other 
   comprehensive income:
    - Changes in financial assumptions 3,876                  (5,683)
    - Experience adjustments 1,651                    6,861

5,527                   1,178                    
Present value of defined benefit obligations as at December 31 47,801                44,535                

26.3

Current service cost 4,863                  4,144                   
Interest cost 7,189                   6,758                   
Expense charged in statement of profit or loss 12,052                 10,902                

26.4 Charge for the year has been allocated as follows:

367,54.33selas fo tsoC                    5,213                   
256,41.43tsoc noitubirtsiD                    4,209                  
736,11.53sesnepxe evitartsinimdA                    1,480                   

12,052                 10,902                

26.5 Principal actuarial assumptions

2024 2023

Expected rate of salary increase in future years - per annum 13.25% 16.25%
Discount rate - per annum 14.25% 17.50%
Expected mortality rate SLIC 2001-2005 SLIC 2001-2005
Average duration of plan 9 Years 6 Years

Amount

26.6 Estimated expense to be charged to statement of profit or loss in 2025
(Rupees in 

'000)

934,4tsoc ecivres tnerruC                   
962,6noitagilbo tifeneb denifed no tsoc tseretnI                   
807,01ssol ro tiforp fo tnemetats ot elbaegrahc tnuomA                 

26.7 Sensitivity analysis

Year and sensitivity analysis (± 100 basis points (bps)) on defined benefit obligation

Discount rate + 100 bps 45,862                43,352                
Discount rate - 100 bps 49,959                45,792                
Salary increase + 100 bps 49,253                45,239                
Salary increase - 100 bps 46,506                43,867                

The amount recognized in the statement of profit or
   loss is as follows:

Significant assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate and expected salary
increase. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions constant.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of this scheme by applying projected unit credit
method as on December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

26.8 Risk exposure

27 LONG TERM FINANCES FROM 
FINANCIAL INSTITUTION - SECURED

Long term finances - secured                 40,926                
Less: current portion shown under current liabilities 6,296                  6,296                  

28,333                34,630                

27.1

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

100,055,31.82srotiderc edarT            5,059,531           
393,453seitilibail deurccA               425,553              
510,342.82seitilibail tcartnoC                  40,871                

413,03tsurt dnuf tnedivorp ot elbayaP                 27,388                

882,0213.82stisoped ytiruceS               122,559               

250,964.82dnuf noitapicitrap tiforp 'srekroW                 71,910                 

706,115.82dnuf eraflew 'srekroW                  22,640                

672,67elbayap xat selaS                  78,436                

361,6elbayap ecruos ta detcuded sexaT                    11,845                 

688,156.82seitilibail rehtO                 39,054                
4,312,995           5,899,787           

28.1 This includes amounts due to the following related parties:

590,4581.1.82dnalreztiwS ,L.R.A.S sdnarB ataB               2,592,393           

183,159eropagniS ,secivreS raewtooF labolG                692,128              

385aisyalaM ataB                       557                      

894,1eropagniS ,eohS ataB                    953                      

-O.R.S ertneC ataB                       10,592                 

207.detimiL ynapmoC cilbuP dnaliahT fO eohS ataB                       -                      

-aisenodnI ,ataB utapeS .T.P                       289                      
1,808,259           3,296,912           

The long-term finance facility was obtained from Habib Bank Limited for the import and installation of solar power
machinery. Under the arrangement with Habib Bank Limited, the balance principal amount is repayable in 22 equal
quarterly installments, ending in May 2030. Interest is payable quarterly in arrears at the rate of the 3-month State Bank
of Pakistan (SBP) rate plus 1.5% per annum. The loan is secured by a first hypothecation charge of Rs 106.67 million on all
present and future movable fixed assets of the Company and a joint pari-passu charge on present and future movable
assets and contingent debts of the Company to the extent of Rs 447 million.

Changes in market yields on Government bonds - The discount rate used to compute the plan liabilities is based on the
Government bond yields. A decrease in Government bond yields will increase the plan liabilities.

Through its defined benefit gratuity scheme, the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which
are detailed below:

Employee turnover - The plan obligations are to provide benefits for the period of employment of the members. Therefore,
lower employee turnover will increase the plan liabilities.

Inflation risk - The Company's gratuity obligation is linked to the salary of the members of the scheme. Therefore,
increases in the salaries due to higher inflation will increase the plan liabilities. 

Life expectancy - The plan obligations are to provide benefits for the period of employment of the members, so increase in
life expectancy will result in an increase in plan liabilities. 
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

28.1.1

28.2

28.3

28.4 Workers' profit participation fund

The reconciliation of carrying amount is as follows:

019,17ecnalab gninepO                  75,873                 
250,9663raey eht rof noisivorP                 71,910                 
754,6183ssenisub s'ynapmoC ni dezilitu sdnuf no tseretnI                  8,583                  

157,419               156,366              
763,88raey eht gnirud stnemyaP :sseL                 84,456                
250,96ecnalab gnisolC                 71,910                 

28.5 Workers' welfare fund

The reconciliation of carrying amount is as follows:

Opening balance 22,640                26,700                
Provision for the year 36 12,232                 30,349                

34,872                57,049                
Less: Payments during the year 23,265                34,409                
Closing balance 11,607                 22,640                

28.6 Other liabilities

This represents the following:

976,7smialc ecnarusni puorG                    6,242                  
402,13seeyolpme remrof ot elbayaP                 22,971                 
300,31suoenallecsiM                 9,841                   

51,886                39,054                

29 Short term borrowings from financial institutions - secured

000,3331.92ytilicaf hakarahsum gninnuR -                                   

29.1

29.2

This includes amounts due under the trademark license fee agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the
Company and BATA Brands SA, Switzerland revised the terms of the trademark agreement, increasing the royalty
percentage from 2% of net revenue (net of taxes) to 5% of net revenue (subject to applicable tax deductions). Certain
minority shareholders have filed a suit against the Company in the High Court of Sindh, claiming that the increase in
royalty is unjustified and have claimed damages of Rs 800 million. Initial proceedings of the case are currently underway
and based on the opinion of the Company's legal counsel, the management expects an outcome confirming the revisions to
the terms of the trademark agreement and quashing the damages.

The running musharakah facility available from Meezan Bank Limited aggregates to Rs 400 million (2023: Nil) at an
interest rate of 1-month Karachi Inter-Bank Offered Rate ('KIBOR') plus 0.5% (2023: Nil) per annum. The facility is
secured against a first joint pari passu charge on all present and future current assets of the Company, including but not
limited to stocks and book debts, with a 25% risk margin. The mark-up rate charged during the year on the outstanding
balance ranges from 15.36% to 18.14% per annum (2023: Nil).

This represents contract liabilities of the Company towards various parties. Revenue recognised in the current year that
was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the year amounts to Rs 40.871 million (2023: Rs 96.565
million).

Credit facilities other than the above facility of Rs 400 million available to the Company from various commercial banks
aggregate to Rs 1,835 million (2023: Rs 2,235 million). These include:

This represents the security deposits received from registered agency holders and business associates in accordance with
the terms of the contract. These deposits carry interest at the rate of 8.5% (2023: 20.85%) per annum. They are repayable
upon termination or completion of the contract and upon the return of any Company property provided to them. As per
the agreements signed with these parties, the Company has the right to utilize these amounts for business purposes.
Therefore, the amounts are not required to be kept in a separate bank account maintained in a scheduled bank.
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30 UNPAID DIVIDEND

31 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

31.1 Contingent tax liabilities

The Company is contingently liable for:
202,461.1.13xat selas rof redrO                 64,202                
958,4592.1.13xat emocni rof redrO               954,859              
431,253.1.13xat selas rof redrO                  52,134                 

                85,097                

237,065.1.13xat selas rof redrO                 60,732                
-smotsuC fo rotcelloC yb redrO                       23,975                 

952,316.1.13xat emocni rof redrO                  13,259                 
589,47.1.13xat emocni rof redrO                   4,985                  
513,098.1.13xat selas rof redrO                  90,315                 
640,849.1.13xat selas rof redrO                 48,046                
479,35101.1.13xat emocni rof redrO                153,974               
260,819,111.1.13xat selas rof redrO            1,918,062           
431,81121.1.13xat selas rof redrO                118,134               
590,2931.1.13xat emocni rof redrO                 92,095                
088,241.1.13xat selas rof redrO                   1,827,399           

-xat selas rof redrO                       36,427                
850,0351.1.13xat selas rof redrO                 30,058                
901,2361.1.13xat emocni rof redrO                 -                      

3,720,941           5,573,753           

31.1.1

The Company then filed a complaint with the Federal Tax Ombudsman (FTO), who decided in favor of the Company on
January 11, 2012, and ordered the Commissioner Inland Revenue (CIR) to vacate the order. The Company filed an appeal
with the CIR(A) to dispose of the original order. The CIR(A) ruled that since the FTO decided in favor of the Company, no
further action was needed.

The Company then appealed to the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) for the cancellation of the impugned order,
which is still pending adjudication. Additionally, the Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) raised an additional
demand of Rs 64.202 million on June 25, 2012, for the period from July 2007 to October 2008, related to sales tax
previously refunded to the Company. The case was referred to the concerned ACIR/DCIR for enforcement of the order.
The Company filed an appeal with the CIR(A), which is also pending adjudication.

Show cause notice for sales tax against which
   stay order has been obtained

In addition to the above, the Company can avail further cash finance facilities from the unutilized non-funded facilities
from various commercial banks amounting to Rs 458.568 million (2023: Rs 458.568 million). This also includes Rs 35
million (2023: Rs 35 million) in respect of export finance facilities. The mark-up on cash finance ranges from the 3-month
KIBOR plus 0.40% to 1.0% (2023: 3-month KIBOR plus 0.40% to 1.0%) as per agreements with the banks. Meanwhile, the
mark-up on export finance is charged at the SBP rate plus 1.00% (2023: SBP rate plus 1.00%) per annum

These finances are secured against the hypothecation of stock-in-trade, stores and spare parts, and receivables of the
Company amounting to Rs 2,580.333 million (2023: Rs 2,580.333 million).

- Cash finance facilities of Rs 1,380 million (2023: Rs 1,780 million).

The Assistant Commissioner Inland Revenue (ACIR) issued an order on September 30, 2011, raising a demand of Rs
201.252 million for the tax periods from July 2007 to December 2008. This demand was due to the non-payment of retail
tax on sales made through retail outlets and inadmissible input tax adjustments claimed against retail supplies. The
Company appealed to the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)], however, the appeal was decided against the
Company.

This represents dividend payable to Bafin B.V. (Nederland), which is pending approval from State Bank of Pakistan as at
December 31, 2024.

- Non-funded facilities of letters of guarantee and letters of credit amounting to Rs 455 million (2023: Rs 455 million); and

Based on the opinion of the tax advisor, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no
provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
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31.1.2

31.1.3

31.1.4

31.1.5

31.1.6

The Tax Department, being aggrieved, filed an appeal against the order of CIR(A) with the Appellate Tribunal Inland
Revenue (ATIR). The ATIR, via an order dated April 11, 2019, decided the appeal in favor of the Company. The
Department filed a reference petition before the Lahore High Court against the order of ATIR on June 22, 2021, which is
pending adjudication.

Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision
has been recorded in these financial statements.

The Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) raised a demand pertaining to Income Tax for the tax year 2009 on
account of certain issues. Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue
(Appeals) [CIR(A)], who, via an order dated October 18, 2019, decided the appeal in favor of the Company by deleting the
majority of the add-backs, except for the proration of expenses and additions made on account of advances to employees
and suppliers. The Company, however, being aggrieved, filed an appeal with the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue
(ATIR) against the additions not deleted by the CIR(A). The Tax Department also filed an appeal against the order of
CIR(A) with the ATIR.

The Additional Commissioner Inland Revenue (AdCIR) raised a demand of Rs 954.859 million via an order dated June 28,
2013, for the tax year 2011. The assessing officer added back certain expenses, disallowed a certain amount of tax credit,
and assessed that the Company had suppressed turnover amounting to Rs 1,427.436 million.

The Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) issued a show cause notice dated April 20, 2015, stating that the
adjustment of input sales tax of Rs 85.097 million for the tax periods from February 2014 to January 2015, related to the
Trade Mark License fee and Management Service Fee claimed by the Company in the Punjab Revenue Authority (PRA), is
inadmissible and recoverable from the Company along with a default surcharge. A comprehensive reply has been
submitted; however, no decision has been made by the DCIR. The vires of the show cause notice have also been challenged
in the Lahore High Court, which granted a stay against the proceedings in its order dated August 27, 2015, in WP
23456/2015. The petition is still pending in the High Court. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's
management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

The Assistant Commissioner, Sindh Revenue Board (SRB), raised a demand via an order dated September 1, 2016,
amounting to Rs 60.732 million on account of non-payment of sales tax on trademark license fees and management
service fees for the period from July 2011 to December 2012. Being aggrieved, the Company filed an appeal before the
Commissioner (Appeals) Sindh Revenue Board, who decided the matter in favor of the Company via an order dated
February 10, 2019. The SRB filed an appeal against the order before the Appellate Tribunal Sindh Revenue Board, which
remanded the case back to the assessing officer for fresh investigation via an order dated August 8, 2019. Subsequently, no
further action has been initiated by the relevant officer of the Sindh Revenue Board since the date of the Appellate Tribunal
Sindh Revenue Board order. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome,
and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

The Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) raised two separate demands via orders dated December 06, 2014,
amounting to Rs 43.856 million and Rs 8.278 million on account of further sales tax of 1% on unregistered customers for
the periods from October 2013 to July 2014 and August 2014 to September 2014, respectively. Being aggrieved, the
Company preferred appeals with the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)], who remanded both cases back to
the adjudicating officer for a fresh decision after allowing the appellant to produce relevant records. However, the
Commissioner Inland Revenue filed an appeal in the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) against the said order,
which is pending adjudication. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable
outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal with the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)], which was
decided in favor of the Company via an order dated October 2, 2013, by deleting all the add-backs except for the difference
in the amount of tax credit calculated under section 65B of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

Further, on August 30, 2022, the taxation officer gave effect to the CIR(A) order, reducing the tax demand from Rs 34.270
million to Rs 13.259 million. Being aggrieved by the appeal effect order, the Company preferred an appeal to the CIR(A),
who remanded the case back to the assessing officer on May 18, 2023. The department has not initiated any proceedings in
this regard till now. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and
therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.
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31.1.7

31.1.8

31.1.9

31.1.10

31.1.11 The Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) raised a demand pertaining to the tax periods from July 2020 to
October 2020 and December 2020 to August 2021 via an order dated January 17, 2022, amounting to Rs 1,918.062
million. This was on account of claiming credit notes in violation of the provisions of sections 2(20), 3(1), 3(2)(aa), 6, 7, 9,
22, and 26 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990, and the provisions of Chapter III of the Sales Tax Rules, 2006 made thereunder.

The Additional Commissioner Inland Revenue (ACIR) raised a demand via an order dated April 16, 2021, pertaining to the
tax year 2015, amounting to Rs 153.974 million on account of certain issues, primarily including the proration of expenses
and the disallowance of certain expenses. Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner
Inland Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)], which was decided in favor of the Company via an order dated January 31, 2022.
Thereafter, the tax department filed an appeal with the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) on March 26, 2022,
which is pending adjudication. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable
outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

The Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) raised a demand via an order dated March 02, 2020, pertaining to the
tax year 2017, amounting to Rs 24.863 million on account of certain issues. These issues primarily include the
disallowance of certain salaries due to non-deduction of withholding tax, disallowance of provident fund contributions,
and disallowance of certain expenses such as tax loss claimed on the sales of fixed assets, exchange loss, and certain
miscellaneous expenses. Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue
(Appeals) [CIR(A)], who, via an order dated December 31, 2021, decided the appeal in favor of the Company by allowing
credit of payments in the sum of Rs 129.295 million. As a result, the demand has been revised to Rs 4.985 million. The
Company, however, being aggrieved, has filed an appeal against the revised demand by CIR(A). Based on the tax advisor's
opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these
financial statements.

The ACIR issued a demand order on February 28, 2020, amounting to Rs 90.316 million for sales tax charged during the
period from January 2019 to September 2019, due to the failure to charge further tax on supplies made to unregistered
persons. The Company, being aggrieved, appealed to the CIR(A), who remanded the case back to the ACIR to provide
another opportunity for the Company to be heard. Still aggrieved, the Company filed an appeal with the ATIR, which also
remanded the case back to the assessing officer. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a
favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

The Additional Commissioner Inland Revenue (ACIR) raised a demand via an order dated March 10, 2020, amounting to
Rs 48.046 million in respect of sales tax for the period from January 2019 to August 2019. This was based on the assertion
that the Company failed to maintain value addition at the rate of 4% as per the provisions of the 'Eight Schedule' of the
Sales Tax Act, 1990. Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue
(Appeals) [CIR(A)], who remanded the case back to the ACIR to afford the Company another opportunity to be heard. The
Company, still aggrieved, filed an appeal before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR), which also remanded the
case back to the assessing officer. The Company then filed an appeal before the Lahore High Court (LHC), which is
pending adjudication. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and
therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals), which was decided
in favor of the Company via an order dated March 18, 2022. The Department filed an appeal before the Appellate Tribunal
Inland Revenue (ATIR) against the said order, and subsequent to the year-end, on January 2, 2025, the ATIR decided the
matter in favor of the Department by restoring the demand of DCIR to the extent of Rs 1,731.288 million. The remaining
amount of Rs 186.773 million, relating to the tax periods of July 2021 and August 2021, was found not recoverable.

Being aggrieved with the order of ATIR, a reference application has been filed in the Lahore High Court. Furthermore, to
resolve the matter under dispute, the Company has also filed an application with the Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) for
the constitution of an Alternative Dispute Resolution Committee (ADRC). Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the
Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial
statements.
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31.1.12

31.1.13

31.1.14

31.1.15

31.1.16

31.2 Other contingent liabilities

In addition to the contingencies disclosed in note 28.1.1

         and note 31.1, the Company is contingently liable for:

240,2sknab ot nevig seetnaraug retnuoC -                   2,042                  

580,22laeppa rednu - stbed sa degdelwonkca ton smialC -                 22,265                
24,127                 24,307                

The Additional Commissioner Inland Revenue (AdCIR) raised a demand via an order dated June 30, 2022, amounting to
Rs 92.095 million on various issues, such as the allocation of expenses between export and local sales, the claim of
initial/normal depreciation, amortization of advertisement and promotional expenses, and the provision of Workers' Profit
Participation Fund (WPPF). Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue
(Appeals) [CIR(A)], who decided the case in favor of the department. Against this order, the Company filed a second
appeal before the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR), as the learned CIR(A) had committed factual and legal
infirmities which were intended to be contested before the learned ATIR. The appeal is currently pending adjudication.
Based on the tax advisor’s opinion, the Company’s management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision
has been recorded in these financial statements.

The Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) raised a demand via an order dated April 29, 2022, amounting to Rs
1,200.458 million on account of suppression of sales, short payment of sales tax against incorrect declaration of
sales/supplies made to wholesalers as retail sales, non-payment of further tax, and illegal adjustment of input tax in
violation of the Sales Tax Act, 1990. Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland
Revenue (Appeals) [CIR(A)], who decided the appeal in favor of the Company via an order dated June 15, 2022, by
deleting the demand of sales tax of Rs 1,082.324 million. However, the charge related to non-payment of further tax of Rs
118.134 million was remanded back to the assessing officer. Being aggrieved, the Company filed an appeal before the
Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR), which is pending adjudication. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the
Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial
statements.

The Deputy Commissioner of Inland Revenue (DCIR) issued an order on November 27, 2023, demanding Rs 30.058
million for the tax year 2021. The claim alleges that sales tax was not withheld and deposited on payments made for
advertisement services received, under section 3(7) read with Sr. No. 5 of the Eleventh Schedule of the Sales Tax Act, 1990.

The Additional Commissioner of Inland Revenue (ACIR), through an order dated September 18, 2024, raised a demand
amounting to Rs 32.109 million for the tax year 2021. The demand was made by invoking the provisions of section 122(5A)
of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, addressing various issues, including the incorrect calculation of Minimum Tax under
section 113 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, claims of initial allowance, exchange loss, inadmissible claims of
donation/charity, and illegal adjustment of tax deducted at the import stage at a rate of 5.5%.

Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals), who decided the
appeal in favor of the Company via an order dated April 5, 2024, reducing the amount of demand to Rs 2.880 million. The
Company, still aggrieved, filed an appeal with the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR). The Department also filed
an appeal before the ATIR against the aforementioned order. Both appeals are pending adjudication as of the reporting
date.

Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision
has been recorded in these financial statements.

Being aggrieved, the Company preferred an appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals), who decided the
appeal in favor of the Company via an order dated April 23, 2024, and disposed of the case on the grounds that the
demand was unlawful and unjustified. The Department, being aggrieved, has filed an appeal before the Appellate Tribunal
Inland Revenue (ATIR) against the said order, which is pending adjudication as of the reporting date.

Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision
has been recorded in these financial statements.

Aggrieved by the order, the Company filed an appeal with the Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) in Lahore on
October 12, 2024, which is currently pending adjudication. Based on the tax advisor's opinion, the Company's
management expects a favorable outcome, and therefore, no provision has been recorded in these financial statements.

The Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) issued an order on June 19, 2023 (received on August 16, 2023),
raising a demand of Rs 1,827.399 million, including penalty, in respect of tax periods from January 2017 to December
2017. This demand was on account of inadmissible input tax adjustment claimed against retail supplies and services, short
payment of sales tax, suppression of sales (difference between sales tax return and income tax return), and other violations
of various sections of the Sales Tax Act, 1990.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

31.3 Commitments

31.3.1 Commitments in respect of:

261,6erutidnepxe latipaC                    66,414                 

530,12stcartnoc knab dna tiderc fo sretteL                  356,192               
27,197                 422,606              

32 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - NET

SALES:
Shoes and accessories:

489,474,22lacoL         23,275,789         
344,661tropxE               102,843              

22,641,427         23,378,632        
966,44lairetam parcs dna selcitra yrdnuS                 82,585                

22,686,096        23,461,217         

054,704,3 xat selaS :sseL           3,166,730           
371,095srotubirtsid dna srelaed ot stnuocsiD                545,424              
210,653setaicossa ssenisub / stnega ot noissimmoC               486,440             

4,353,635           4,198,594           
18,332,461         19,262,623         

33 COST OF SALES

307,608,51.33derutcafunam sdoog fo tsoC           6,939,241           

460,733,4desahcrup sdoog dehsiniF           3,521,041           

774,428,4sdoog dehsinif fo kcots gninepo :ddA            4,480,321           

        14,940,603        

Less: closing stock of finished goods 12 5,649,935           4,824,476          
9,318,309           10,116,127          

33.1 Cost of goods manufactured

Raw materials consumed

178,494kcots gninepO               530,656              

572,144,4sesahcrup :ddA            5,721,842           

           6,252,498          

952,582kcots gnisolc :sseL               494,871              

4,650,887          5,757,627           

863,62demusnoc seraps dna erotS                 27,938                

772,581rewop dna leuF                219,603              

191,9474.33stifeneb dna segaw ,seiralaS                707,873              

072,385.33ecnanetniam dna sriapeR                 89,272                

902,52ecnarusnI                 33,527                 

154,384.6stessa dexif gnitarepo no noitaicerpeD                  74,913                 

5,803,653          6,910,753           

235,27ssecorp ni sdoog gninepo :ddA                  101,020              

5,876,185           7,011,773            

284,96ssecorp ni sdoog gnisolc :sseL                 72,532                 
5,806,703          6,939,241           
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

33.2

33.3

33.4

33.5

34 DISTRIBUTION COSTS

964,3991.43stifeneb dna seiralaS               1,127,663            

520,434 thgierF               437,642              

953,403noitomorp selas dna gnisitrevdA               351,932               

258,4152.43tneR                456,339              

346,33ecnarusnI                 44,759                

708,0193.43eef esnecil kramedarT               962,615              

405,175rewop dna leuF                549,491              

099,28ecnanetniam dna sriapeR                 175,768               

604,92tnemniatretnE                 32,219                 

031,11sexat ytreporp dna ssenisuB                   5,709                   

043,323,14.43noitaicerpeD            1,357,020           

106,372.8stessa elbignatni no noitazitromA                  52,357                 

548,11suoenallecsiM                  4,001                  

5,294,971           5,557,515            

34.1

34.2

34.3

34.4 This represents depreciation expense relating to:

Operating fixed assets 6.4 281,310               249,543              

Right of use assets 1,107,477            

            1,323,340             1,357,020 

Included in repairs and maintenance is the charge of provision for obsolescence of stores and spare parts amounting to Rs
1.968 million (2023: Rs 1.638 million).

This represents expenses incurred on short term leases and variable lease expenses not included in lease liabilities.

Included in salaries and benefits is an amount of Rs 35.500 million (2023: Rs 37.385 million) and Rs 4.652 million (2023:
Rs 4.209 million) in respect of contribution to provident fund trust and provision for gratuity respectively.

Included in salaries, wages and benefits is an amount of Rs 20.338 million (2023: Rs 19.496 million) and Rs 5.763 million
(2023: Rs 5.213 million) in respect of contribution to provident fund trust and provision for gratuity respectively.

This represents the royalty fee of Bata Brands S.A.R.L., Switzerland, a related paty, situated in Avenue d'Ouchy 6, 1006
Lausanne, Switzerland.

This includes (reversal)/charge of provision for slow moving and obsolete items for finished goods amounting to Rs
(50.194) million (2023: Rs 97.239 million).

This includes (reversal)/charge of provision for obsolescence of raw materials amounting to Rs (7.160) million (2023: Rs
16.743 million).
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

35 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

762,5581.53stifeneb dna seiralaS               848,355              
051,06eraflew eeyolpmE                 69,551                 
481,53rewop dna leuF                  27,684                
802,13egatsop dna enohpeleT                 29,450                
251,42ecnarusnI                  30,786                
357,241gnillevarT                154,207               
786,122ecnanetniam dna sriapeR               143,726               
603,72yrenoitats dna gnitnirP                 32,960                
507,512.53noitpircsbus dna snoitanoD                  12,197                 
022,923.53segrahc lanoisseforp dna lageL                 27,316                 
562,7sexat ytreporp dna ssenisuB                    3,944                  
046,9834.53eef ecivres tnemeganaM              393,325              
180,244.6stessa dexif gnitarepo no noitaicerpeD                 21,701                 
311,42.8stessa elbignatni no noitazitromA                    3,304                  
362,21suoenallecsiM                  9,909                  

1,897,994           1,808,415

35.1

35.2

35.3 Auditors' remuneration

Legal and professional charges include the following
in respect of auditor's remuneration for:

662,4tidua yrotutatS                   3,878                  
512,2stnemetats laicnanif miretni fo weiveR                    2,014                   
903,1egakcap gnitroper ngierof fo tiduA                    1,190                   
319snoitacifitrec dna sweiver rehtO                       830                     
093sesnepxe tekcop fo tuO                       355                      

9,093                  8,267                  

35.4

36 OTHER EXPENSES

250,964.82dnuf noitapicitrap tiforp 'srekroW                 71,910                 
232,215.82dnuf eraflew 'srekroW                  30,349                

-ssol egnahcxE                       84,771                 
221,41stessa dexif fo lasopsid no ssoL                  4,213                   

95,406                191,243               
37 OTHER INCOME

883,17stnemtsevni mret trohs morf emocnI                  185,147               
863,921stisoped knab morf emocnI               142,212               
544,21emocni latneR                  11,415                  
022,201noitacifidom esael no niaG               189,083              
697,74niag egnahcxE                 -                      

363,217               527,857              

Management service fee represents amounts payable to Global Footwear Services, related party, in respect of management
services.

Included in salaries and benefits is an amount of Rs 35.700 million (2023: Rs 37.003 million) and Rs 1.637 million (2023:
Rs 1.480 million) in respect of contribution to provident fund trust and provision for gratuity respectively.

None of the directors of the Company, nor any of their spouses, have any interest in the donees. Furthermore, no donation
exceeding Rs 1 million has been made to any donee in the current or prior year.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
38 FINANCE COSTS

Interest / mark-up on:

872,5062.42seitilibail esaeL                 664,227              

754,614.82dnuf noitapicitrap tiforp 'srekroW                    8,583                  

975,92secnanif mret gnoL                   2,670                  

651,314               675,480              

313,81noissimmoc dna segrahc knaB                  77,681                 
669,627              753,161               

39 INCOME TAX

Current tax

583,492raey eht roF -                            427,478              

473,81sraey roirP -                               134,816               

               562,294              

968,0222.01xat derrefeD              (135,569)             

533,628              426,725              

2024 2023

39.1 Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

00.921002 ,ecnanidrO xaT emocnI rep sa etar xat elbacilppA                   29.00                  

Tax effect of:

73.01 xat repuS                    12.33                   

-emiger xat evitpmuserp dna xat muminim ot tcejbus emocnI                       (0.19)                   

)16.0(xat sraey roirP                    (9.31)                    

)12.0(srehto dna secnereffid tnenamreP                     (0.06)                   

9.55                     2.77                     

55.83etar xat evitceffE                    31.77                   

40  EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

037,058)000' ni seepuR( - raey eht rof tiforP               916,288              

                   7,560                   

35.211)erahs rep seepuR( detulid dna cisab - erahs rep sgninraE                  121.20                 

There is no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share of the Company.

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. The following reflects the income
and shares data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

%
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

44 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

44.1 Market risk

44.1.1 Currency risk

Financial assets

Trade debts  - Export customers
960,84ralloD SU            5,497                

-gnilretS dnuoP                   10,550              
Cash in hand

998,1ralloD SU               4,456                
863,1oruE               1,896                

-mahriD EAU                   1                         
02anuroK hcezC                    21                      

Cash at bank

469,14ralloD SU             42,422              
93,320           64,843              

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables - Foreign suppliers

318,416,2553,658ralloD SU          

-oruE                   10,666              

440,359 ralloD eropagniS          696,490           
1,809,399 3,321,969

Foreign Currency Sensitivity analysis

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, other price risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors ('the Board'). The Board has the overall responsibility for the
establishment of a financial risk governance framework. They provide assurance that the financial risk-taking activities
are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in
accordance with the Company's risk management policies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company's profit before tax to a reasonably possible change in
exchange rates of the major currencies involved in transactions with the foreign parties, keeping all other variables
constant. The Company's exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material.

The Company's overall risk management procedures to minimise the potential adverse effects of financial market on the
Company's performance are as follows:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk comprise of three types of risks: currency risk, price risk, and cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within an acceptable
range.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises mainly from future commercial transactions or receivables and payables
that exist due to transactions in foreign currencies.

The Company is exposed to currency risk primarily with respect to the United States Dollar (USD), Singaporean Dollar
(SGD), UAE Dirham (AED), Pound sterling (GBP), Czech Koruna (CZK) and Euro (EUR). Currently, the Company's
foreign exchange risk exposure is restricted to the amounts receivable from/payable to the foreign entities. The
Company's exposure to currency risk is as follows:
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

2024 2023 2024 2023

Effect on 
Profit 

Before Tax

Effect on 
Profit Before 

Tax
+ / - + / -

953,331414,74%00.5%00.5RKP ot DSU ni noitairaV             
528,43256,74%00.5%00.5RKP ot DGS ni noitairaV               

The following significant exchange rates
   have been applied:

2024 2023 2024 2023
(Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees) (Rupees)

98.18255.87263.08235.8721 DSU
72.31219.40227.80265.8021 DGS

44.1.2 Price risk

44.1.3 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company's interest bearing financial instruments was:

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets
     Short term investments              45,065              945,011 
Financial Liabilities

)199,32(             )442,12(           seitiruces 'seeyolpme - stisoped mret gnoL     
     Security deposits - agents         (120,288)            (122,559)
     Lease liabilities - retail shops     (3,736,800)        (3,676,081)

Net liabiity exposure      (3,833,267)        (2,877,620)

Average rate Year-end spot rate

The Company's interest rate risk arises from deposits in saving accounts with various commercial banks, short term
investments, other deposits and borrowings. 

Percentage 
Change in 
Exchange 

Rate

(Rupees in '000)
Percentage 
Change in 
Exchange

Rate

Price risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are
caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The Company is not exposed to equity price risk as it does not have any exposure in
equity securities. 

Interest rate risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)Floating rate instruments:

Financial assets

Bank balance in daily profit accounts              21,540              916,260 

Financial liabilities

Long term finances - secured           (34,629)             (40,926)

Short term borrowings - secured         (333,000)                         -   

Net (liability)/asset exposure (346,089) 875,334

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

Increase in basis points by 100 (3,461)             8,753
Decrease in basis points by 100 3,461              (8,753)               

44.2 Credit risk

44.2.1 Out of the total trade receivables, 67.38% (2023: 60.59%) is concentrated in ten customers.

44.2.2 Impairment of financial assets

The Company has some amounts invested in various daily profit accounts which offer a variable rate of return.
Furthermore, the Company has entered in certain borrowing arrangements on variable interest rates. The following table
demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change interest rate, with all other variables held constant, on the
Company's profit before tax.

The Company's financial assets are subject to the expected credit losses model. While bank balances, debt investments
carried at amortised cost, deposits and other receivables are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial and hence, has not been recognized.

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Therefore, a change in interest rate at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss of the Company.

Credit risk represents the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to its long term security deposits, trade
debts, deposits, other receivables and its balances at banks. 

The Company makes investment only in liquid securities and only with banks. Given their high credit ratings,
management does not expect any counter party to fail to meet its obligation.

The management has a credit policy in place and exposure to credit risk is monitored on a continuous basis. Credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Company does not require
collateral in respect of financial assets. Financial assets detailed in note 44.5 to these financial statements are subject to
credit risk.

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)
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December 31, 2024 Expected 
loss rate

Trade
debts

Loss 
allowance

% (Rupees in thousand)

Trade debts

Up to 30 days 0% 257,450         -                    
31 to 60 days 0% 220,005         -                    
61 to 90 days 0% 155,546          -                    
91 to 180 days 0% 444,193          -                    
181 to 360 days 50% 129,152          64,576              
Above 360 days 100% 85,737            85,737              

1,292,083      150,313            

December 31, 2023 Expected 
loss rate

Trade
debts

Loss 
allowance

%

Trade debts

Up to 30 days 0.00%            395,567                         -   
31 to 60 days 0.00%            132,916                         -   
61 to 90 days 0.00%            101,487                         -   
91 to 180 days 0.00%            190,510                         -   
181 to 360 days 50.00%              56,149                28,075 
Above 360 days 100.00%              87,225                87,225 

          963,854              115,300 

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade debts.

Trade debts

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. These trade receivables are netted off with the collateral obtained from these customers to calculate the
net exposure towards these customers. The Company has concluded that the expected loss rates for trade debts against
local sales are different from the expected loss rates for trade debts against export sales. 

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months before December 31, 2024
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the trade debts. The Company has identified the Gross Domestic Product and the Consumer Price Index of the country in
which it majorly sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors. 

On that basis, the loss allowance as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 was determined as follows:

(Rupees in thousand)

Generally, default is triggered when more than 360 days have passed. There were no defaulting parties of outstanding
trade debts from export sales.
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44.2.3 Credit quality of financial assets

32024202ycnegA

257,54ARCAPdetimiL knaB natiloporteM bibaH             497,816            
-SIVdetimiL knaB detinU                   500,000          

911,244+1AAAASIVdetimiL knaB bibaH           798,910            
MCB Bank Limited PACRA AAA A1+ 1,759               167,228            
Bank Al-Habib Limited PACRA AAA A1+ 14,604            92,504              
National Bank of Pakistan PACRA AAA A1+ 801                 3,006                
United Bank Limited VIS AAA A1+ 3,166              177,553             
Meezan Bank Limited VIS AAA A1+ 1,051               98,093             
Allied Bank Limited PACRA AAA A1+ 2,447              33,726              
Bank Alfalah Limited PACRA AAA A1+ 1,002              6,094                
Standard Chartered Bank
 (Pakistan) Limited PACRA AAA A1+ 45                    5,914                 

512,746          2,380,844       

44.3 Liquidity risk

44.3.1 The following table shows the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities:

Less than 
1 year

Between 1 
and 2 
years

2 to 5 years Over 5 years
Total 

contractual 
cashflows

Carrying 
amount

Long term deposits 21,244       -               -                       -                  21,244            21,244              
Long term finances 6,296         6,296           18,890                 3,147               34,629           34,629              
Trade and other payables 4,312,995  -               -                       -                  4,312,995      4,312,995         
Unpaid dividend 739,163     -               -                       -                  739,163          739,163            
Unclaimed dividend 77,919        -               -                       -                  77,919            77,919               
Lease liabilities 1,523,569  1,240,075   2,241,429            189,493          5,194,566      3,736,800        

333,000    -               -                       -                  333,000         333,000           

7,014,186  1,246,371    2,260,319           192,640          10,713,516     9,255,750        

Management monitors the forecasts of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents (note 42 to these financial statements)
on the basis of expected cash flow. This is generally carried out in accordance with the practice and limits set by the
Company. These limits vary by location to take into account the liquidity of the market in which the entity operates. In
addition, the Company's liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in each quarter and considering the
level of liquid assets necessary to meet its liabilities, monitoring liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory
requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and bank balances and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. At December 31, 2024, the Company has borrowing limits
available from financial institutions as disclosed in note 29, and cash and bank balances as disclosed in note 20. The
Company follows an effective cash management and planning policy to ensure availability of funds and to take
appropriate measures for new requirements.

Long term
Carrying amount

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

Short term
Ratings

AAA A1+

(Rupees in '000)

A1+AA+

Short term borrowings - secured

(Rupees in '000)

Party

2024

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired (mainly term deposits and bank balances) can
be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default
rate:
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Less than 
1 year

Between 1 
and 2 
years

2 to 5 years Over 5 years
Total 

contractual 
cashflows

Carrying 
amount

Long term deposits 23,991       -               -                       -                  23,991            23,991
Long term finances - secured 6,296         6,296           18,890                 9,444              40,926           40,926
Trade and other payables 5,899,787 -               -                       -                  5,899,787      5,899,787
Unpaid dividend 682,304    -               -                       -                  682,304         682,304
Unclaimed dividend 71,658        -               -                       -                  71,658            71,658
Lease liabilities 1,621,434  1,310,413    2,050,811            161,764           5,144,422      3,676,081

8,305,470 1,316,709    2,069,701           171,208          11,863,088    10,394,747      

44.4 Fair value estimation

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

-

-

As of the reporting date, there were no level 1, 2 or 3 assets or liabilities during prior or current year.

2024 2023
44.5 Financial instruments by categories

Assets
580,16stisoped ytiruces mret gnoL             59,190              
077,141,1stbed edarT        848,554           

478,71stisopeD             7,077                 
000,01nigram - tiderc fo sretteL            10,000             
532,36selbaviecer rehtO             85,116               
155deurcca tseretnI                   21,240              
560,54stnemtsevni mret trohS             945,011            
443,445secnalab knab dna hsaC          1,570,298        

1,883,924      3,546,486        

Liabilities
442,12stisoped mret gnoL             23,991              
288,601,4selbayap rehto dna edarT       5,674,085        
361,937dnedivid diapnU           682,304           
919,77dnedivid demialcnU             71,658              
008,637,3seitilibail esaeL      3,676,081        

Short term borrowings - secured 333,000 -                                  
926,43deruces - secnanif mret gnoL            40,926             

9,049,637      10,169,045      

44.6 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

There are no significant financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements.

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the
principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price)
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. The carrying values
of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in these financial statements approximate their fair values. Fair value is
determined on the basis of objective evidence at each reporting date.

2023
(Rupees in '000)

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

 At amortised cost 

(Rupees in '000)
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2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 

45 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company's objectives when managing risks are:

a)

b) to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The gearing ratio as at reporting date is as follows:

Net debt

 629,04                926,763          92 dna 72 seton - sgniworroB

 110,549              560,54             81 eton - stnemtsevni diuqiL :sseL

 892,075,1           443,445          02 eton - secnalab knab dna hsaC          

         (221,780)        (2,474,383)

 420,286,5          521,645,5        ytiuqe latoT

The Company is in net cash position as at reporting date.

The Company is not subject to any externally-imposed capital requirements. In accordance with the terms of agreements
with the lenders of long term finances (as referred to in note 27 to these financial statements), the Company is required to
comply with certain financial covenants. The Company has complied with these covenants throughout the reporting
period.

to safeguard the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

The Company's policy is to safeguard the Company's ability to remain as a going concern and ensure a strong capital base
in order to maintain investors', creditors' and market's confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The
Board of Directors monitors the returns on capital, which the Company defines as net operating income divided by total
shareholders' equity.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company could adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with the industry norms, the Company monitors its capital on the basis of gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings as shown in the statement of financial
position less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity is calculated as 'equity' as shown in the statement of financial
position.
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46 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

46.1

701,1secivres dna sdoog fo esahcruPseinapmoc puorG)i(                8,606                

896,311secivres dna sdoog fo elaS           10,329              

059,4sesnepxe fo tnemesrubmieR               5,859                

708,019eef esnecil kramedarT          962,615            

130,691segrahc ecivreS           132,821            

046,983eef ecivres tnemeganaM          393,325            

403,286diap dnediviDynapmoc gnidloH)ii(          921,110             

810,7642.64 eton - noitarenumeR)iii(          501,097            

675.0226.0diap dnediviD

(iv) Post employment Expense charge in respect of 

635,19dnuf tnedivorp yrotubirtnocsnalp tifeneb             93,884             

Expense charge in respect of 

975,71nalp tifeneb denifed              12,080              

46.2

46.3

Relationship with the 
Company

The Company continues to have a policy, whereby, all transactions with related parties and common control companies
(group companies) are carried out at mutually agreed terms and conditions. Following are the related parties with whom
the Company had entered into transactions or has arrangements / agreements in place.

Nature of transactions

This represents remuneration of the Chief Executive, executive director, other directors and certain executives that are
included in the remuneration disclosed in note 43 to these financial statements. 

Key Management Personnel

The related parties include the related parties on the basis of common directorship, holding company, group companies,
key management personnel and post employment benefit plans. Key management personnel are those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly,
including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that Company. The Company in the normal course of business
carries out transactions with various related parties. Amounts due from and to related parties are shown under receivables
and payables. Related party transactions carried out during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 120

noitaicossA fo sisaBemaN ynapmoC.oN .rS

1 Bafin B.V., Nederland Nederland Parent Company 75.21%

liNynapmoc puorGdnalreztiwS2

liNeropagniS3

liNdnaliahTdetimiL )dnaliahT( ataB4

liNynapmoc puorGureP5

liNeropagniS6

liNynapmoc puorGdnalreztiwSO.R.S ertneC ataB7

liNynapmoc puorGhsedalgnaB8

liNynapmoc puorGayneK9

liNrotceriDA/NgneZ niJ .sM01

rotceriDA/N11 0.00001%

liNrotceriDA/N21

%10000.0rotceriDA/N31

%10000.0rotceriDA/N41

liNrotceriDA/N51

liNrotceriDA/N61

%10000.0rotceriDA/N71

%10000.0rotceriDA/N81

liNrotceriD-xEA/N91

liNnalP tifeneB tnemyolpmE tsoPA/N02

liNnalP tifeneB tnemyolpmE tsoPA/N12

Group company and common 
directorship

Group company and common 
directorship

Empresas Comerciales S.A
   Bata Peru

Group company and common 
directorship

Mr. Roberto Longo

Global Footwear Services 
   Pte. Ltd.

Bata Shoe Company
   (Bangladesh) Ltd.

Bata Shoe Company 
(Kenya) Ltd.

Company's Employees 
Gratuity Fund

Company's Employees 
Provident Fund

Mr. Muhammad Imran 
Malik

Mr. Amjad Farooq

Mr. Rearngwut 
Chuenchomsakun

Mr. Muhammad Maqbool

Mr. Aamir Amin

Mr. Rashid Rahman Mir

Mr. Kamal Monnoo

Ms. Fatima Asad Khan

Country of 
incorporation

Aggregate % 
of 

Shareholding 
in the 

Company

Bata Brands S.A. 
   Switzerland

Bata Shoe 
   (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
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47 CAPACITY AND ACTUAL PRODUCTION

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Footwear in pairs

Cemented 1 1 3,032                   2,946              2,061              2,284                

Polyurethane 1  to  3 1  to  3 4,820                   4,633              2,877              3,206                

Thongs 1  to  2 1  to  2 3,531                    3,744              879                 1,762                 

Directly injected

 plastic 3 3 4,442                   4,555               1,591               2,278                
Sandak 3 3 2,538                   2,516               1,261               1,494                 

18,363                 18,394            8,669              11,024               

47.1

48

Description

Statement of Financial Position

Short term borrowings as per islamic mode 29 333,000         -                    

Accrued finance cost on conventional loan 28 18,722            367                    

Short term investments - Shariah compliant 18 45,065            945,011            

150,1tnailpmoc hairahS - secnalab knaB                98,093             

Statement of Profit or Loss

Revenue earned from a shariah-compliant business segment 32 18,332,461    19,262,623      

Profit earned from Shariah-compliant bank balances/deposits 37 3,942              4,757

Profit paid on Islamic mode of financing 9,845              -                    

worked shifts worked

Installed capacity

based on actual Actual

Pairs in '000

The deviation in actual production from installed capacity is due to rapidly growing trends as the Company has to change
major shoe lines in accordance with the market trends. This involves change in manufacturing operations and product
mix which causes variances not only between the installed capacity and actual production but also between the actual
production of any two years.

Pairs in '000

Following information has been disclosed as required under Part 1 Clause VII of the Fourth Schedule to the Companies
Act, 2017 as amended via S.R.0.1278(I)/2024 dated August 15, 2024:

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENT FOR COMPANIES NOT ENGAGED IN SHARIAH NON-PERMISSIBLE
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

production

Number of shifts

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 
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Source and detailed break up of other income

Other income earned from shariah compliant: 37
Income from bank deposits 3,942              4,757                 
Rental income 12,445            11,415               
Gain on lease modification 102,220         189,083           
Exchange gain 47,796            -                    

Other income earned from non - shariah compliant:
Income from bank deposits 125,426          124,611             
Income from short term investments 71,388            185,147             

49 NUMBER OF PERSONS EMPLOYED

2024 2023
697,1dne raey ta sa deyolpme snosrep fo rebmuN                1,983                
498,1raey eht gnirud deyolpme snosrep fo rebmun egarevA               2,052                

50 PROVIDENT FUND

51 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

52 DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

53 CORRESPONDING FIGURES

 'Accrued finance cost' previously presented under 'Trade and other payables',
863'tsoc ecnanif deurccA' meti enil tnemetats laicnanif a sa detneserp won                      

 'Provision for taxation' previously shown as a separate line item on the face of statement of
financial position, now netted off with 'Income tax receivable net of provision for taxation' 427,478            

There are no subsequent events after the reporting period other than those mentioned elsewhere in these financial
statements.

Investments out of provident fund have been made in accordance with the provisions of section 218 of the Companies Act,
2017 and the conditions specified thereunder.

These financial statements were authorized for issue on February 27, 2025 by the Board of Directors of the Company.

Corresponding figures have been re-arranged wherever necessary to reflect more appropriate presentation of events and
transactions for the purpose of comparison. However, no significant re-arrangements have been made except for the
following:

The Company has business relationship with Islamic banks in ordinary course of business. Disclosures other than above
are not applicable to the Company.

Chief Executive Chief Financial officer Director

2024 2023
(Rupees in '000)

 Note 



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 123



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 124



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 125



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 126



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Page / 127



FORM OF PROXY
73rd ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

I/We 

of

being a member of Bata Pakistan Limited and holder of

        Ordinary Shares as per Register Folio No.   

            and / or CDC Participant I.D. No.

and Sub Account No.        hereby appoint 

of  

or failing him        of 

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 73rd Annual General Meeting of the Company to be 

held on April 28, 2025 and at any adjournment thereof.

The Secretary
Bata Pakistan Limited
P.O. Batapur,
Lahore.

Signature: 

Date: Rs.10/- Revenue Stamp

A member entitled to be present and vote at the meeting may appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote for 
him/her. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Proxies in order to be effective must be received at the Registered Office of the Company not less than 48 
hours before the meeting.

CDC Shareholders and their Proxies must each attach an attested photocopy of their Computerize National 
Identity Card (CNIC) or passport with this proxy form.

WITNESSES:

Note:

Signature

Name

Address

CNIC No.

Passport No.

1. Signature

Name

Address

CNIC No.

Passport No.

2.

1.

2.

3.

In case of Joint Shareholders, the vote of senior who tenders a vote whether in person or proxy will be 
accepted to the exclusion of votes of other joint shareholders and for this purpose, seniority will be 
determined by the order in which names stand in the Register of the Members.

I. In case of Corporate entities, the Board of Director’s Resolution/Power of attorney and specimen signature 
must be submitted (unless it has been provided earlier) along with proxy form to Share Registrar/Company.

II. Members are further requested:

 a) To affix revenue stamp of Rs.10/- at the place indicated above.
 b) To sign in the same style/pattern as is registered with Company.
 c) To write down folio number in readable manner.

4.



AFFIX

CORRECT

POSTAGE

The Company Secretary
BATA PAKISTAN LIMITED
P.O.BATAPUR
LAHORE.



(1)(2)

73

2025 7328
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